

OFFICIAL JOURNAL OF THE AUSTRALIAN SOCIETY FOR MICROBIOLOGY INC. Volume 43 Number 2 June 2022

> Food microbiology

JULY 2022 SYDNEY

<u>www.theasm.org.au</u>



PROF JILL BANFIELD University of California, USA Rubbo Orator



PROF NEIL GOW University of Exeter, UK

PROF TRACY PALMER Newcastle University, UK

DR REBECCA VEGA THURBER Oregon State University, USA







The Australian Society for Microbiology Inc.

9/397 Smith Street Fitzroy, Vic. 3065 Tel: 1300 656 423 Fax: 03 9329 1777 Email: admin@theasm.com.au www.theasm.org.au ABN 24 065 463 27

For Microbiology Australia correspondence, see address below.

Editorial team Prof. Ian Macreadie, Dr Keyvan Allahyari and Mrs Rebekah Clark

Editorial Board

Dr İpek Kurtböke (Chair) Prof. Wieland Meyer Prof. Ross Barnard Prof. Mary Barton Prof. Linda Blackall A/Prof. Prue Bramwell Dr Rebecca LeBard Dr Gary Lum Prof. Dena Lyras Dr Sam Manna

Dr Chris Owens Cheryl Power Prof. William Rawlinson Prof. Tom Ross Dr Paul Selleck Dr David Smith Ms Helen Smith

Subscription rates

Current subscription rates are available from the ASM Melbourne office.

Editorial correspondence Prof. Ian Macreadie Tel: 0402 564 308 (lan) Email: ian.macreadie@gmail.com

Published four times a year in print and open access online by



PUBLISHING

36 Gardiner Road, Clayton, Vic. 3168 http://microbiology.publish.csiro.au

Publishing enquiries Jenny Foster Email: publishing.ma@csiro.au

Production enquiries Helen Pavlatos Email: helen.pavlatos@csiro.au

Advertising enquiries Tel: 03 9545 8400

Email: publishing.advertising@csiro.au

© 2022 The Australian Society for Microbiology Inc. The ASM, through CSIRO Publishing, reserve all rights to the content, artwork and photographs in *Microbiology* Australia. Permission to reproduce text, photos and artwork must be sought from CSIRO Publishing.

The Australian Copyright Act 1968 and subsequent amendments permit downloading and use of an article by an individual or educational institution for noncommercial personal use or study. Multiple reproduction of any Microbiology Australia article in a study block is governed by rights agreement managed by Copyright Agency Limited and fees may apply.

Authors published in Microbiology Australia have the moral right under Australian law to be acknowledged as the creator.

ISSN 1324-4272 elSSN 2201-9189

While reasonable effort has been made to ensure the accuracy of the content, the Australian Society for Microbiology, CSIRO, and CSIRO Publishing accept no responsibility for any loss or damage from the direct or indirect use of or reliance on the content. The opinions expressed in articles, letters, and advertisements in Microbiology Australia are not necessarily those of the Australian Society for Microbiology, the Editorial Board, CSIRO, and CSIRO Publishing.



OFFICIAL JOURNAL OF THE AUSTRALIAN SOCIETY FOR MICROBIOLOGY INC.

Volume 43 Number 2 June 2022

Contents

V

Vertical Transmission	46
Dena Lyras	46
Guest Editorial	47
Food microbiology: current and future topics of investigation Prudence Bramwell	47
Omic Applications in Food Microbiology	49
Omic applications to understand food system microbiomes Jessica Gray	49
Cheese quality and authenticity: new technologies help solve an age-old problem Christopher Pillidge, Roya Afshari and Harsharn Gill	52
The food microbiological analyst: pairing tradition with the future Prudence Bramwell, Dean Clarke and Thishakya de Silva	57
Microbial Food Safety	61
Vibrio parahaemolyticus: an Australian perspective Claire E. Hedges	61
Biofilms of foodborne pathogenic bacteria: how important are they? <i>Gary A. Dykes</i>	64
Are point of management assays relevant for food safety in the poultry industries? J. M. Templeton, J. R. Botella and P. J. Blackall	67
Impact of photodynamic inactivation on microbial safety in foods Maral Seididamyeh and Yasmina Sultanbawa	71
New Ideas for Food Fermentations	75
Rising stars in the bakery: novel yeasts for modern bread Anna Wittwer and Kate Howell	75
Exploring lactic acid bacteria diversity for better fermentation of plant-based dairy alternatives Wenkang Huang, Anders Peter Wätjen, Sangeeta Prakash, Claus Heiner Bang-Berthelsen and Mark S.Turner	79
ASM Affairs	83

83
83

Cover image: Compilation by Prudence Bramwell and Rosa Rios with images from Creative Commons.



Vertical Transmission



Dena Lyras President of ASM

This will be my last communication to you as President of the ASM, after serving in this role for the past 4 years.

I never expected that I would hold the role of President of our Society and, in truth, I was nervous about taking on such an important task. What I can say now, at the end of my tenure, is that it has been a deeply fulfilling time, which has allowed me to connect with so many of you – I am very lucky to have so many new friends and colleagues in our community of microbiologists. More than that, it has been a tremendous privilege to serve you as the ASM President. I hope that I can use the knowledge I have gained to continue to serve the Society in other ways in the future.

One of the most wonderful aspects of my presidency has been the time I have spent working with our ASM Executive. These people are profoundly committed to the Society and our members, and it has been an honour to spend time with them. I would like to take this opportunity to thank Roy Robins-Browne, Kate Seib, Anthony Baker, Cheryl Power, Rebecca LeBard, our President Elect, Mark Schembri, and Priscilla Johanesen, who attends every executive meeting in her role as Chair of the Professional Development Committee; you are such a talented and passionate group of people and I am privileged to now call you friends.

I would also like to extend my thanks to our State Branch Chairs and the Chairs of our Standing Committees, and all of the members who sit on the committees under these portfolios. Thank you also to the members who take the time to represent the Society on National and State Advisory Committees and Boards. The members of the Microbiology Australia Editorial Board also deserve a very big thank you for the wonderful job they do getting interesting, readable issues together, and for giving our members an opportunity to showcase their science. I am also grateful for the hard work of our Scientific Advisors, especially during COVID-19 restrictions when, together with Kate Seib, they managed to deliver online content that kept us all connected and engaged.

A special thank you to Kara Taglieri at ASN events for many things, but mostly for helping me to solve problems along the way and tolerating my many, many questions.

Finally, I would like to thank all of our ASM members for your support. The ASM is you, our members. Please consider taking an active role in the Society at the state or national level, it will bring you so much more than you can imagine. I wish our new President, Mark Schembri, and our Society, the very best for the future, and I know that the Society is in good, caring hands. I look forward to seeing many of you at our upcoming meeting in Sydney, face-to-face for the first time in 3 years. Safe travels to all of you.



Subscribe now to our FREE email early alert or RSS feed for the latest articles from *Microbiology Australia*.

www.publish.csiro.au/earlyalert



Food microbiology: current and future topics of investigation

Prudence Bramwell

This edition of Microbiology Australia is dedicated to food microbiology. The field of food microbiology is very important as microorganisms can be used in a positive way to make and enhance food products, or, from a negative perspective, microorganisms cause both food spoilage, with subsequent food wastage, and foodborne disease, with potentially lifethreatening consequences. The multidisciplinary field of food microbiology is of great interest due to the possibility of studying food microorganisms in the context of food safety and hygiene, classic and new food preservation technologies, traditional and novel food fermentations, functional foods and probiotics, rapid automated methods of analysis, epidemiological and molecular investigations¹ and the future use of microbes as a sustainable food source and for recycling.² Therefore, this edition of Microbiology Australia focuses on articles related to food safety, advances in microbial food analysis, and novel microbes for new fermented food products that are relevant for the future.

An important topic in this edition relates to omics and its role in food microbiology. Omics (such as genomics, transcriptomics, proteomics, and metabolomics) generates data that can extend the range of information from a single system and increase detection, tracking and adaptation of foodborne microbes in processing environments.³ The articles by both Gray and Pillidge et al. discuss the use of omics to better understand microbial communities in food systems. Gray reviews the use of omics to study leafy vegetables from farm to fork. Leafy green vegetables are well known as a source of foodborne illness such as E. coli 0157 infections.⁴ Pillidge et al. describe the use of metagenomic analysis to study the stages in the production of cheese and the changes in cheese microbiota during fermentation and cheese ripening. Both articles discuss historical culture-based methods compared with high-throughput sequencing methods to obtain whole genome sequencing (WGS) data to develop an understanding of metagenomics, including microbes that might be missed using culture-dependent methods and how the microbiota changes during processing.

In addition to cheese, bread is another classic fermented food that has been made for thousands of years.⁵ However, dietary preferences are changing due to the increased demand for gluten free and low fermentable oligo-, di-, monosaccharides and polyols (FODMAP) bread. Wittwer and Howell describe research into diverse breadmaking yeast that may cater for these demands using novel yeasts from potentially non-food environments in sourdough production to develop interesting flavour properties and as a support to the lactic acid bacteria (LAB) degradation of gluten and breakdown of fructans.

Another area of fermentation research is in plant-based products. According to the Bloomberg Intelligence Report, plant-based food sales are expected to increase fivefold by 2030.⁶ Fermented plant-based foods are important as a potential replacement for fermented dairy products as they are naturally lactose-free and have a good source of bio-active compounds. However, there is a need for new strains of LAB that are more suited to fermentation of plants than dairy products and that could produce acceptable flavour, texture and nutritional value if proved safe. Huang *et al.* describes Citizen Science as a way to help identify new species of LAB that may be best suited to plant fermentation.

Laboratory analysis of suspected contaminated food is essential to maintain food quality, safeguard consumer safety and ensure emerging pathogens are identified.⁷ In late 2021 public health investigations across Australia detected cases of gastroenteritis caused by *Vibrio parahaemolyticus*, linked to eating raw oysters from South Australia.⁸ *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* is a bacterium found in marine and coastal waters where oysters normally grow. Outbreaks in Australia have been rare. However, in the last few years *Vibrio* infections have been sporadically reported and are now a notifiable infection in Tasmania.⁹ The article by Hedges addresses the possible issue of *Vibrio* spp. as an emerging issue for Australia and discusses advances in molecular methods of analysis using PCR and gene sequencing.

As stated earlier, WGS is increasingly becoming a routine tool to detect and track foodborne outbreaks within hours to days.¹⁰ The article by Bramwell *et al.* discusses the changes in analytical laboratories as traditional methods of detection of foodborne pathogens and spoilage microbes are replaced by rapid automated molecular technologies, such as WGS, as they become more accessible and affordable.¹⁰ However, it explains the reasons why there is still a place for more traditional culture-based methods, in particular for food microbiology analysis in complex food matrices and processed food.

A key limitation when testing food is time-to-detection.⁷ Therefore, another area of food microbiology related to rapid analytical technology is rapid *in situ* screening assays for foodborne pathogens, known as Point of Management (POM) assays, similar to 'Point of Care' diagnostics in the medical field. Most raw poultry contains *Campylobacter*.¹¹

Bramwell P (2022) Microbiology Australia 43(2), 47–48.

doi:10.1071/MA22016

^{© 2022} The Author(s) (or their employer(s)). Published by CSIRO Publishing on behalf of the ASM. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License (CC BY-NC-ND)

OPEN ACCESS

Templeton *et al.* describes their work on a POM assay to detect *Campylobacter* in poultry production that uses a dipstick for molecular screening of *Campylobacter* DNA. They describe the advantages and disadvantages of this technology and how it could be extrapolated for other relevant pathogens in the poultry industry, such as *Salmonella*.

In recent years, novel processing and treatment methods such as high-pressure processing, ultrasound, cold plasma, and pulsed electric field have been developed to minimise the risk of unwanted microorganisms being present in food.¹² These new processing techniques have less impact on the organoleptic and nutritional qualities of food by preserving the characteristic properties.¹³ Seididamyeh and Sultanbawa describe the use of photodynamic inactivation as an emerging technology on microbial safety in foods. They describe how this treatment can be used to inactivate both pathogenic and spoilage microbes in food, showing promise for the future in minimising nutritional and sensorial changes in a cost-effective and environmentally friendly way.

Another issue related to food processing is the production of biofilms in food processing facilities. Biofilms have been shown to be a source of transmission of pathogens from surfaces and equipment, where they adapt to, and successfully colonise, niche environments.¹ Omics can broaden the scope of knowledge gained studying biofilms, including identification and remediation of strains that persist in the processing plant environment.³ Biofilms are addressed in Dykes' article, including difficulties in studying pathogen biofilms in food processing facilities *in situ* and issues related to the way biofilms are currently investigated.

In conclusion, the above knowledge can be used in practice to ensure there is a constant, plentiful and safe food supply for the future rapidly growing human population. And as our future is reliant on food availability and good nutrition,¹⁴ experts in all food microbiology fields are essential for improving global health and wellbeing.

Biography



Prudence Bramwell is an Honorary Associate Professor at RMIT University. She has over 30 years' experience in food microbiology. Prior to her 25 years at RMIT as an academic educator in the fields of food microbiology and food safety, she has held positions in Microbiology at both the University of Melbourne and University of Sydney and at the Australian Government Analytical

Laboratories (the latter now amalgamated into the National Measurement Institute) in the field of microbiological analysis. While at AGAL she was a registered NATA auditor of Biological Laboratories. While at RMIT she held certificates as an advanced food safety auditor and associate quality auditor with Exemplar Global. Her research interests are in methods for the isolation and identification of foodborne microbes.

References

- 1. Suzzi G, Corsetti A (2020) Food microbiology: the past and the new challenges for the next 10 years. *Front Microbiol* **11**, 237. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2020.00237
- Choi KR et al. (2021) Microbial food: microorganisms repurposed for our food. Microb Biotechnol 15, 18–25. doi:10.1111/1751-7915.13911
- Cook P, Nightingale K (2018) Use of omics methods for the advancement of food quality and food safety. Anim Front 8, 33-41. doi:10.1093/af/vfy024
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) (2022) Lettuce, other leafy greens and food safety. https://www.cdc.gov/foodsafety/ communication/leafy-greens.html
- 5. European Food and feed Cultures Association (2022) Microorganisms in food production. https://effca.org/microbial-cultures/foodproduction/#:~:text=Nature%20uses%20microorganisms%20to %20carry,fermented%20fish%2C%20
- 6. Minassian L (2022) Why the global rise in vegan and plant-based eating is no fad (30x increase in US vegans + other astounding vegan stats). Food Revolution Network. https://foodrevolution.org/blog/vegan-statistics-global/
- Ferone M et al. (2020) Microbial detection and identification methods: bench top assays to omics approaches. Compr Rev Food Sci Food Saf 19, 3106–3129. doi:10.1111/1541-4337.12618
- Department of Health, Victoria Australia (2021) Gastroenteritis linked to consumption of raw Pacific oysters from Coffin Bay, South Australia. https://www.health.vic.gov.au/health-advisories/ gastroenteritis-linked-to-raw-oyster-consumption
- Harlock M et al. (2022) Emergence of non-choleragenic Vibrio infections in Australia. Commun Dis Intell 46, 1–7. doi:10.33321/ cdi.2022.46.8
- Vilne B et al. (2019) Machine learning approaches for epidemiological investigations of food-borne disease outbreaks. Front Microbiol 10, 1722. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2019.01722
- 11. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) (2022) Foods that can cause food poisoning. https://www.cdc.gov/foodsafety/ foods-linked-illness.html
- Dong X et al. (2021) Critical reviews and recent advances of novel non-thermal processing techniques on the modification of food allergens. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr 61, 196–210. doi:10.1080/ 10408398.2020.1722942
- Vanga SK et al. (2017) Review of conventional and novel food processing methods on food allergens. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr 57, 2077–2094. doi:10.1080/10408398.2015.1045965
- 14. Ranganathan J *et al.* (2018) How to sustainably feed 10 billion people by 2050, in 21 charts. World Resources Institute. https://www.wri.org/insights/how-sustainably-feed-10-billion-people-2050-21-charts#:~:text=There%20is%20a%20big%20shortfall,than%20 there%20were%20in%202010

Member of Australian Society for Microbiology (MASM)

Want to upgrade from an associate to a full member? No points or cash required and only one supporting referee needed.

Go to the ASM website, download and complete the form, and forward it with a CV to the National Office. We will do the rest.



Microbiology

Omic applications to understand food system microbiomes

Jessica Gray^{A,*}

For full list of author affiliations and declarations see end of paper

*Correspondence to: Jessica Gray

Microbes for One System Health (MOSH), Food Microbiology, Agriculture and Food, CSIRO, 39 Kessels Road, Coopers Plains, Qld 4108, Australia Email: Jess.Gray@csiro.au

ABSTRACT

Understanding the microbial communities associated with food systems has traditionally used culture-based techniques that can provide a snapshot of the microorganisms present. However, this approach requires multiple media types and only allows for the identification of a limited number of culturable species. Culture-independent methods such as sequencing and omic techniques provide a deeper understanding of the microbial community, how they interact and function together across the entire food system. This review provides a brief introduction to omic techniques used in microbiome studies and touches on microbiome research that has been undertaken across the farm to fork continuum focusing on leafy vegetables where possible.

Keywords: food systems, metagenomics, metaproteomics, metatranscriptomics, microbiomes, omic techniques.

Leafy vegetables are a part of a healthy and balanced diet providing many nutritional qualities including vitamins, minerals, fibre and phytochemical compounds.^{1,2} Production and sale of leafy vegetables has increased due to humans consuming leafy vegetables as part of a healthier diet. Between 2019 and 2020, the Australian retail supply of leafy salad vegetables increased by 9%.³ As production has increased, so too has foodborne illnesses associated with leafy vegetables, with some major outbreaks linked to lettuce, spinach or ready to eat salads due to their raw and ready to eat nature.^{4–6} As a result, important strategies, guidelines and policies have been developed both within Australia and overseas.^{7,8}

Traditionally, food safety regulatory measures have focused on the identification of foodborne pathogens at various locations within processing facilities and on the final product prior to sale. While it is important to track foodborne pathogens, they occur at low prevalence and low numbers within a broader microbial community that are often present in complex environments such as food production and processing environments as well as food products. This leads to challenges in detecting pathogens in food systems, determining how they enter and survive throughout the food chain and how best to control them.

Understanding the microbial composition and potential impact these communities have on pathogens and spoilage organisms could provide new ways of improving the safety and shelf life of foods. A microbiome is a microbial community and includes the environmental components (chemical, physical and biological) of the ecological niche in which the community exist.⁹ The microbiome can be composed of bacteria, fungi, viruses, algae, or small protists, which is known as the microbiota, in a mutualistic or competitive manner. Within food systems, microbiome research can occur within the farm arena to understand the microbial interactions with the crop or animal system and the production of a healthy commodity; within the processing environment to ultimately prevent cross-contamination of products by pathogenic species and reduce spoilage; and within the human gut to understand the dietary effects and impact on the native microbiota of the commodity on human health.

Food microbiome research has historically been conducted using culture-based methods through the identification of pathogens of interest as well as determining total viable counts of bacterial and fungal species. With the development of molecular and sequencing methods and the reduction of costs associated with sequencing, microbiome research nowadays is typically performed using omic techniques like *16S* rDNA amplicon sequencing and whole genome sequencing, metagenomics, metabarcoding, metatranscriptomics, metaproteomics and metabolomics and provides a greater depth of information. These techniques can be used singularly or in combination to help overcome any limitations individual techniques may have as well as providing an understanding of community

Received: 20 March 2022 Accepted: 11 April 2022 Published: 17 May 2022

Cite this:

Gray J (2022) Microbiology Australia **43**(2), 49–51. doi:10.1071/MA22018

© 2022 The Author(s) (or their employer(s)). Published by CSIRO Publishing on behalf of the ASM. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License (CC BY-NC-ND)

structure, networks and interactions.¹⁰ Utilising omic techniques allows the analysis of the taxonomic composition of all microbial members (understanding who is there), analysis of the metabolic potential (what they can do) and the microbial functioning (what are they doing).⁹ The majority of food system microbiome research has focused on understanding the soil microbiome for improving plant/crop growth, with a small amount of research concentrating on microbial communities within the red meat and poultry industry, with limited microbiome research in the horticultural farm to fork space.

A summary of some of the microbiome research and potential applications that have occurred within food systems are highlighted below. Jackson et al.¹¹ utilised culturedependent and culture-independent methods to assess the bacterial composition of leafy salad vegetables. Culturedependent methods identified bacterial colonies from six phyla in comparison to culture-independent methods which identified 11 different phylas. While most of the dominant taxa identified in the leafy salad vegetable samples were characterised by both dependent and independent methods, pyrosequencing was able to identify two additional bacterial taxa, Ralstonia (endophytic) and Actinobacter (associated with the leaf surface). Although Ralstonia is capable of growth on trypticase soy agar, the colonies are typically small and may be missed in isolate sampling, therefore the identification of Ralstonia by pyrosequencing ensured its presence was detected. Culture-independent methods are able to identify low abundant taxa otherwise missed using culture-dependent methods. Determining the entire microbial community from leafy vegetable samples also allows for the identification of microbial species which may influence the survival of pathogenic or spoilage organisms.

Bacterial 16S and fungal ITS amplicon sequencing was employed to distinguish the bacterial and fungal communities on spinach and swiss chard with consideration of leaf damage.¹² The fungal community at all stages (baseline – manual harvest and no wash step, machine harvest, washing, packaging) remained consistent for both spinach and swiss chard with Ascomycetes followed by Basidomycota phyla the most dominant. Whereas the bacterial diversity varied with specific species abundant at different harvesting and processing stages. Spinach and swiss chard communities were both dominated by the phylum Moraxellaceae; however, a significant reduction in its abundance occurred following the washing stage. The family Pseudomadaceae increased and was the most abundant family in the washing and packaging microbiota.¹² A 16S rRNA analysis before and after sanitisation in a fresh produce processing facility found greater reduction in bacterial populations and shifts in microbiomes following effective sanitation.¹³ The microbial populations on production floors were also found to be consistently reduced by sanitation in comparison to peripheral surfaces like doors and walls. Several species were identified at multiple sites throughout the facility suggesting these species comprised part of the core microbiota of the processing facility. Understanding the microbiota at various stages of processing and how these communities are influenced by the various hurdles and processes associated with food production provides important information on the microbiota

the consumer is exposed to and the potential influence it may have on consumer health.

A meta-transcriptomic study performed by Jung et al.¹⁴ on the interactions of lactic acid bacteria during a kimchi fermentation identified Leuconostoc mesenteroides was most active during early phase fermentation and Lactobacillus sakei and Weissella koreensis dominated the later fermentation phase. They identified genes typical of heterolactic acid fermentation from pathways relating to carbohydrate transport, hydrolysis and lactate fermentation. The identification of active populations, gene expression and interaction of community members at important stages of the fermentation process would not have been possible with the use of culturebased methods. Proteomics was employed to assess the inhibition potential of modified atmospheric conditions, 30% carbon dioxide (CO₂) and 70% oxygen (O₂), of five typical meat spoilage microorganisms on a simulated meat medium.¹⁵ Proteomic analysis identified the five species were able to co-exist as a result of alternative species-specific metabolic pathways in which synergistic spoilage occurred. Three of the meat spoilage species utilised a variety of mechanisms to reduce oxidative stress, maintain intracellular pH, osmotic balance and oxygen levels and alteration of the fatty acid composition. The use of proteomics provided an insight into nutrient utilisation and adaptation to industry adopted modified atmospheres designed to reduce the growth of spoilage microorganisms and therefore spoilage in general. Identification of members of the core microbiota, particularly if they are spoilage or pathogenic microorganisms, provides valuable awareness of the species which may support the survival of undesirable microorganisms. Metagenomic analyses also provide greater insight into the effectiveness of cleaning and disinfection treatments and offers the ability for facilities to tailor their sanitation methods to target species of interest.

There is substantial research in the human gut microbiome arena demonstrating the value in understanding microbial community interactions. However, microbiome research across food systems and in particular non-fermentative and or leafy vegetables is lacking. The availability of sequencing and omic technologies has the power to rapidly expand our understanding of microbial community members and interactions in this space. Understanding how community members interact and move from one area of the food chain to another area may allow for the development of rapid screening techniques or the development of healthy state (ideal) microbiomes that may increase crop production, reduce contamination by spoilage and pathogenic microorganisms, increase product shelf-life and improve health benefits for consumers.

References

- Gil MI *et al.* (2015) Pre- and postharvest preventive measures and intervention strategies to control microbial food safety hazards of fresh leafy vegetables. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr* 55, 453–468. doi:10.1080/10408398.2012.657808
- Putriani N et al. (2020) Effect of thermal processing on key phytochemical compounds in green leafy vegetables: a review. Food Rev Int. doi:10.1080/87559129.2020.1745826
- 3. Horticultural Innovation Australia Limited (2020) Australian Horticultural Statistics Handbook 2019/2020 - Vegetables. Hort Innovation.

- Taban BM, Halkman AK (2011) Do leafy green vegetables and their ready-to-eat [RTE] salads carry a risk of foodborne pathogens? *Anaerobe* 17, 286–287. doi:10.1016/j.anaerobe.2011.04.004
- 5. Food Standards Australia and New Zealand (2021) P1052 Primary Production and Processing Requirements for Horticulture (Berries, Leafy Vegetables and Melons) – Supporting Document 2 – Microbiological assessment of berries, leafy vegetables and melons. Australian Government.
- Callejón R *et al.* (2015) Reported foodborne outbreaks due to fresh produce in the United States and European Union: trends and causes. *Foodborne Pathog Dis* 12, 32–38. doi:10.1089/fpd.2014.1821
- 7. Food and Drug Administration (2020) 2020 Leafy Greens STEC Action Plan. U.S. Government.
- Australian Government (2018) Australia's Foodborne Illness Reduction Strategy 2018-2021+. Australian and New Zealand Ministerial Forum on Food Regulation.
- Berg G et al. (2020) Microbiome definition re-visited: old concepts and new challenges. *Microbiome* 8, 103. doi:10.1186/s40168-020-00875-0

- Sandrini M *et al.* (2022) Abiotic stress and belowground microbiome: the potential of omics approaches. *Int J Mol Sci* 23, 1091. doi:10.3390/ijms23031091
- Jackson CR *et al.* (2013) Culture dependent and independent analysis of bacterial communities associated with commercial salad leaf vegetables. *BMC Microbiol* 13, 274. doi:10.1186/1471-2180-13-274
- Mulaosmanovic E *et al.* (2021) Processing of leafy vegetables matters: damage and microbial community structure from field to bag. *Food Control* 125, 107894. doi:10.1016/j.foodcont.2021.107894
- Gu G et al. (2019) Impact of routine sanitation on the microbiomes in a fresh produce processing facility. Int J Food Microbiol 294, 31–41. doi:10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2019.02.002
- Jung JY et al. (2013) Metatranscriptomic analysis of lactic acid bacterial gene expression during kimchi fermentation. Int J Food Microbiol 163, 171–179. doi:10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2013.02.022
- Kolbeck S *et al.* (2020) Comparative proteomics of meat spoilage bacteria predicts drivers for their coexistence on modified atmosphere packaged meat. *Front Microbiol* 11, 209. doi:10.3389/ fmicb.2020.00209

Data availability. Data sharing is not applicable as no new data were generated or analysed during this study.

Conflicts of interest. The author declares no conflicts of interest.

Declaration of funding. This work was supported by CSIRO. JG is a recipient of a postdoctoral fellowship.

Author affiliation

^AMicrobes for One System Health (MOSH), Food Microbiology, Agriculture and Food, CSIRO, 39 Kessels Road, Coopers Plains, Qld 4108, Australia.

Biography



Dr Jessica Gray is a post-doctoral fellow within the Microbiome for One System Health Future Science Platform at CSIRO within the Food Microbiology group. Jess's research focuses on understanding the various microbiomes across the farm to fork continuum.

Future issues of Microbiology Australia

September 2022: Infectious diseases of Northern Australia Guest Editors: Bart Currie, Sean Taylor and Mark Mayo



Microbiology Australia

Official Journal of the Australian Society for Microbiology Inc.

Stay informed

Keep up to date with industry news by subscribing to our email alerts or registering for RSS feeds. www.publish.csiro.au/earlyalert





www.publish.csiro.au/journals







Microbiology

Cheese quality and authenticity: new technologies help solve an age-old problem

Christopher Pillidge^{A,*}, Roya Afshari^A and Harsharn Gill^A

For full list of author affiliations and declarations see end of paper

*Correspondence to: Christopher Pillidge School of Science, RMIT University, Bundoora, Vic. 3083, Australia Email: christopher.pillidge@rmit.edu.au

ABSTRACT

Cheese represents a complex ecosystem of starter and non-starter bacteria, with populations changing over time as the cheese matures. Successive microbial communities, particularly in aged cheeses like cheddar, have a profound impact on the final cheese flavour and quality. Being able to accurately predict cheese ripening outcomes at an early stage, based on cost-effective analyses, would be of great benefit to cheesemakers. In the past, there has been a significant gap between microbiological and chemical information obtained from omics and its application to the cheese industry, but thanks to recent advances in omics analytical methods, computing programs and sensor technologies, this gap is narrowing.

Keywords: cheese authenticity, cheese quality, metabolomics, microbial profiling, multi-omics, proteomics, sensors.

Introduction

Cheese is one of the most widely consumed dairy products. Many different varieties of cheese that vary in texture, taste, and aroma are made and consumed around the world. The number one cheese produced in Australia is cheddar,¹ although other cheese types are gaining in popularity (Fig. 1). For cheddar and other low moisture cheeses that require ageing (ripening), manufacturers have a keen vested interest in getting the ripening process right. If ripening does not proceed correctly, the cheddar made in a daily production run could end up being sold off cheaply, perhaps as an ingredient for locally made processed cheese rather than being exported to an overseas customer at top dollar.

Cheesemaking begins with raw milk. After standardisation of the milk to a predetermined protein-fat ratio and high-temperature short-time (HTST) pasteurisation, the milk is pumped into a cheese vat. The starter culture is then added, followed by addition of rennet, a mixture of milk coagulating enzymes traditionally obtained from the lining of the abomasum from young calves. Alternatively, the rennet can be plant- or microbial-derived, or it may be a highly purified form of bovine chymosin obtained through recombinant DNA technology.² Based on the action of the rennet and starter, milk coagulation occurs. Subsequent cheesemaking steps include cutting the curd and whey drainage, heating, salting and pressing.³ In large-scale industrial cheddar cheesemaking, strains of Lactococcus lactis, a species of lactic acid bacteria (LAB), usually comprise the starter culture. Starter cultures can be added either in freeze dried form direct to the vat, known as direct vat inoculation (DVI), or grown in a separate tank then added as bulk starter. It is not uncommon for cheesemakers to also add adjunct cultures at lower levels, usually non-starter lactic acid bacteria (NSLAB) comprising strains of Lactobacillus helveticus, Lacticaseibacillus paracasei (formerly Lactobacillus paracasei),⁴ or other species. These NSLAB grow slowly in the young cheese during ripening to eventually reach high numbers where they modulate cheese flavour and texture development.⁵ Cheese ripening becomes more complicated, however, because each factory has its own distinctive resident microbiota that naturally 'inoculate' the cheese before ripening begins. These adventitious microbiota also contribute to the complex succession of microbes critical in determining the final cheese properties.³

How is cheese ripening monitored and controlled as it progresses? In most large cheddar-making factories, experienced cheese-graders take core samples at different ripening stages to assess and predict the final cheese flavour and texture. Some basic chemical and microbiological analyses may also be done. Alongside the skill and

Received: 24 March 2022 Accepted: 21 April 2022 Published: 17 May 2022

Cite this:

Pillidge C et al. (2022) Microbiology Australia **43**(2), 52–56. doi:10.1071/MA22019

© 2022 The Author(s) (or their employer(s)). Published by CSIRO Publishing on behalf of the ASM. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License (CC BY-NC-ND)



Fig. I. Hard cheeses such as cheddar are ripened for relatively long periods of time, in some cases for up to 3 years. Accurately predicting ripening outcomes at an early stage would save cheesemakers money and lead to improved product quality for consumers. New advances in omics and sensor technologies will help cheese graders achieve this goal with greater reliability and precision. Furthermore, by applying integrative omics, detailed chemical fingerprints of cheeses can be obtained that can help prove product authenticity, for example, by showing accuracy of labelling for animal sources of milk or for cheese maturation age.

knowledge of the cheese grader, scientific developments in chemical analytic techniques and in omics technologies have progressed, leading to mapping of the many thousands of individual cheese components, including the microbial communities, proteolytic breakdown products, huge numbers of metabolites, as well as the fermentation primary end products. But how can all this information be applied in a meaningful way to help cheesemakers better assess and predict cheese ripening outcomes? This challenge can be tackled in part by the application of so-called omics technologies.^{6,7}

Omics and cheese

The term omics refers to the scientific discipline of analysing the interactions and functions of large clusters of biological information molecules.⁸ Omics technologies include metagenomics based on high-throughput next generation sequencing (NGS) methods, metatranscriptomics, metaproteomics, and metabolomics, targeting DNA, RNA, protein and metabolites, respectively.^{9–11} In recent years, the application of omics technologies to study fermented food products, especially cheese, has greatly increased.⁷

Metagenomics encompasses amplicon sequencing and shotgun whole genome sequencing.⁹ In amplicon sequencing, total DNA is extracted from an environmental sample, then a targeted region (e.g. within the *16S* rRNA gene for identification of bacteria) is PCR-amplified and sequenced. Due to inherent methodological errors that can occur using this approach, along with ongoing improvements in DNA sequencing and computer processing power, shotgun sequencing is gaining wider use. Here, total DNA is sequenced providing not only taxonomic identification results but also information on the total genes present in a sample and their potential corresponding protein (or enzyme) metabolic functions.¹²

Such DNA-based approaches have helped to identify novel microbial species not identifiable using traditional microbiological culturing techniques in many environments, including cheese. An early pioneering study to apply metagenomics in cheese involved *16S* rRNA gene amplicon sequencing of 60 Irish soft cheeses.¹³ In addition to common LAB species, many non-LAB bacterial genera were identified, such as *Prevotella* and *Arthrobacter*. The authors found that the bacterial community composition depended upon the cheese type, the origin of the milk, production technology and the ingredients used.

Metatranscriptomics and metaproteomics involve assessing the complete gene expression and protein complement (respectively) of multi-component biological systems. Both methods are difficult to apply in fermented foods, hence relatively few studies have been published to date.7 Metatranscriptomics studies on cheeses have shown that regulation of microbial enzymes capable of impacting flavour development occurs during ripening, with one study on a Swiss-type cheese showing that regulation of central metabolism enzymes in cold ripening conditions varied depending on the species.¹⁴ Metaproteomics studies have also revealed the functional roles of microbial proteins in fermented foods, however, there have been few studies on cheese, in part due to the complexity of analysing microbial and non-microbial milk proteins and their breakdown products together.^{7,15} Despite these difficulties, these tools have the potential in future to provide exciting new insights into the functional aspects of the cheese microbiota.

Metabolomics consists of identification and quantification/ semi quantification of all endogenous small molecules (metabolome) biosynthesised and modified in a cell, tissue or in a microbial consortium. Typically, there are two approaches: metabolite profiling (targeted analysis of specific groups of metabolites) and metabolite fingerprinting (untargeted analysis of the global metabolome profile without the need for a prior specific hypothesis on a set of metabolites). Metabolomics relies on an efficient method for metabolites extraction, followed by application of analytical instrumentation - usually gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS) and liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LC-MS) together with nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) and multivariate data analysis.^{6,11} Other approaches may also be used; as one example, a group in the Czech Republic used matrix-assisted laser desorption ionisation time-of-flight mass spectrometry (MALDI-TOF MS) together with principal component analysis, or liquid chromatography coupled with electrospray ionisation and quadrupole time-offlight mass spectrometry, to distinguish 27 cheeses made from milks of different animal species.¹⁶ We also showed that spatially offset RAMAN spectroscopy (SORS), a fast, inexpensive and non-invasive method, can be used with chemometrics to distinguish cheeses made from different animal species.¹⁷

Multi-omics with data integration

Individual omics approaches have shown the enormous complexity of fermented food products at a biological level. However, there has been emerging interest in developing mathematical tools that analyse high-dimensional omics datasets obtained from multiple omics platforms applied to fermented foods. For example, new insights into the cheese microbiota were obtained from the combination of strain-level metagenomics with metabolomics, highlighting that different strains of the same species may produce different metabolites in cheese.¹⁸ Samples of 55 artisanal cheeses from 27 Irish producers were analysed; the authors recovered 328 metagenome-assembled genomes, including

47 putative new species in cheese. In addition, numerous phage and bacteriocin genes were found. Most of the new species identified belonged to halophilic genera such as *Psychrobacter* and *Halomonas*, while other species belonged to genera known to be associated with cheese rinds (for example, *Brevibacterium, Corynebacterium*, and *Arthrobacter*). In another study integrated amplicon-targeted metagenomics and metabolomics provided the basis for the selection of cheese adjunct cultures for the accumulation of specific flavours in soft-type ripened cheeses.¹⁹

Multi-omics studies on Australian industrial and artisanal cheddar cheeses done by us have also revealed some interesting associations between cheese microbiota and metabolites. These studies further suggest the possibility of discovering new biomarkers for validating cheese age and brand authenticity and cheese quality. For example, some low abundant taxa such as Pediococcus spp. in artisanal cheeses correlated with the presence of 21 metabolites that may influence cheese flavour.²⁰ Another study showed how integration of metagenomics and metabolomics datasets could enable better differentiation of ten similar mass-produced cheddar cheeses of different brands and ages (Fig. 2).²¹ In a further study we differentiated identical-style cheddars of the same age but of different quality manufactured by the same company.²² By integrating multi-omics datasets much better resolution was obtained, giving more confidence in the results and thus proving (or disproving) authenticity. Other associations were revealed in these studies - for example, levels of phenylalanine correlated positively with the presence of Thermus spp. which have been implicated in the pink discoloration of cheese, while cheese cholesterol showed a negative association with Streptococcus thermophilus.²⁰ To our knowledge, this had not been previously reported. Potential cheese ageand quality-related biomarkers were also identified.



Fig. 2. Multi-factorial analysis of bacterial community composition and metabolite omics datasets obtained from ten similar style Australian cheddar cheeses. Analyses like these enable precise fingerprinting, and hence grouping and identification, of different cheeses, as well as identifying new microbe–metabolite associations. The cheeses represented in this figure are all mass-produced Australian cheddar cheeses of different brands and/or different ripening ages (maturity levels) made by three major local Victorian cheese manufacturers. Adapted from fig. 4 in Afshari et al. (2020).²¹

Challenges for multi-omics

Despite the potential of multi-omics to give new insights into cheese ripening, challenges remain. One major problem is cost. The technology is simply nowhere near the stage where it can be routinely applied. Other problems are heterogeneity across the same omics platforms, making data comparisons difficult, also challenges related to the large computational resources needed and a lack of any unified public repository where researchers can access multi-omics datasets.²³ As these limitations are resolved over time, multi-omics will become a major innovation for the food industry.

Prospects for real-time monitoring

Identification of novel biomarkers to predict cheese ripening outcomes, or detailed fingerprints to prove cheese authenticity, will only be useful for the industry if analyses can be done routinely, easily and affordably. Advances in sensor and real-time monitoring technology are bringing this goal closer. Such technologies have wider applicability in terms of achieving higher process efficiency, improved product quality, ensuring food authenticity and provenance e.g. through coupling with blockchain technology, reducing food waste and improving food safety through real-time pathogen monitoring. Some recent examples include biosensors for pathogen detection in food;²⁴ microbial potentiometric sensors (MPS) technology coupled with appropriate signal analysis tools and methodologies used to monitor kefir fermentation;²⁵ application of an electronic nose to accurately identify and quantify four yeast species (Pichia anomala, P. kluyveri, Hanseniaspora uvarum and Debaryomyces hansenii) in fresh soft cheese;²⁶ the development of biosensors for analysing fermentation-related parameters,²⁷ and monitoring the microbial quality of raw milk.²⁸ The latter is already being done in some parts of the dairy industry.

Together, these observations suggest that we can expect to have new highly sensitive tools for real-time monitoring of cheese quality in the future to complement traditional cheese grading practices. Coupled with the new insights provided by omics and multi-omics, this will lead to better prediction and management of cheese quality, as well as improvements in food safety and in ensuring product authenticity.

References

- 1. In Focus (2021) The Australian Dairy Industry. https://www.dairyaustralia.com.au/
- Olempska-Beer ZS *et al.* (2006) Food-processing enzymes from recombinant microorganisms—a review. *Reg Toxicol Pharmacol* 45, 144–158. doi:10.1016/j.yrtph.2006.05.001
- 3. Mayo B *et al.* (2021) Microbial interactions within the cheese ecosystem and their application to improve quality and safety. *Foods* **10**, 602. doi:10.3390/foods10030602
- 4. Zheng J *et al.* (2020) A taxonomic note on the genus *Lactobacillus*: description of 23 novel genera, emended description of the genus

Lactobacillus Beijerinck 1901, and union of Lactobacillaceae and Leuconostocaceae. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol **70**, 2782–2858. doi:10.1099/ijsem.0.004107

- Crow VL et al. (2002) Raw milk flora and NSLAB as adjuncts. Austr J Dairy Technol 57, 99–105.
- Afshari R et al. (2020) Cheesomics: the future pathway to understanding cheese flavour and quality. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr* 60, 33–47. doi:10.1080/10408398.2018.1512471
- Anastasiou R *et al.* (2022) Omics approaches to assess flavor development in cheese. *Foods* 11, 188. doi:10.3390/foods11020188
 Bhak J (2015) What is omics? http://omics.org/What_is_omics%3F
- Bhak J (2015) What is omics? http://omics.org/What_is_omics%3F
 Metzker ML (2010) Sequencing technologies the next generation. *Nat Rev Genet* 11, 31–46. doi:10.1038/nrg2626
- Kleiner M (2019) Metaproteomics: much more than measuring gene expression in microbial communities. *mSystems* 4, e00115-19. doi:10.1128/mSystems.00115-19
- 11. Liu X, Locasale JW (2017) Metabolomics: A primer. *Trends Biochem Sci* **42**, 274–284. doi:10.1016/j.tibs.2017.01.004
- Filippis FD et al. (2018) Recent past, present, and future of the food microbiome. Annu Rev Food Sci Technol 9, 589–608. doi:10.1146/annurev-food-030117-012312
- Quigley L *et al.* (2012) High-throughput sequencing for detection of subpopulations of bacteria not previously associated with artisanal cheeses. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 78, 5717–5723. doi:10.1128/ AEM.00918-12
- Duru IC *et al.* (2018) Metagenomic and metatranscriptomic analysis of the microbial community in Swiss-type Maasdam cheese during ripening. *Int J Food Microbiol* 281, 10–22. doi:10.1016/j. ijfoodmicro.2018.05.017
- Yang L et al. (2020) Metaproteomics insights into traditional fermented foods and beverages. Compr Rev Food Sci Food Saf 19, 2506–2529. doi:10.1111/1541-4337.12601
- Kuckova S et al. (2019) Verification of cheeses authenticity by mass spectrometry. J Sep Sci 42, 3487–3496. doi:10.1002/jssc. 201900659
- Ostovar pour S *et al.* (2021) Spatially offset Raman spectroscopy: A convenient and rapid tool to distinguish cheese made with milks from different animal species. *J Raman Spectr* 52, 1705–1711. doi:10.1002/jrs.6179
- Walsh AM et al. (2020) Meta-analysis of cheese microbiomes highlights contributions to multiple aspects of quality. Nat Food 1, 500–510. doi:10.1038/s43016-020-0129-3
- 19. Unno R *et al.* (2021) Evaluation of the relationships between microbiota and metabolites in soft-type ripened cheese using an integrated omics approach. *Front Microbiol* **12**, 681185. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2021.681185
- Afshari R et al. (2020) New insights into cheddar cheese microbiotametabolome relationships revealed by integrative analysis of multiomics data. Sci Rep 10, 3164. doi:10.1038/s41598-020-59617-9
- Afshari R *et al.* (2020) Microbiota and metabolite profiling combined with integrative analysis for differentiating cheeses of varying ripening ages. *Front Microbiol* 11, 592060. doi:10.3389/fmicb. 2020.592060
- Afshari R et al. (2021) Biomarkers associated with cheese quality uncovered by integrative multi-omic analysis. Food Control 123, 107752. doi:10.1016/j.foodcont.2020.107752
- 23. Krassowski M *et al.* (2020) State of the field in multi-omics research: from computational needs to data mining and sharing. *Front Genet* **11**, 610798. doi:10.3389/fgene.2020.610798
- Xu L *et al.* (2021) Current state of development of biosensors and their application in foodborne pathogen detection. *J Food Prot* 84, 1213–1227. doi:10.4315/JFP-20-464
- Hristovski KD *et al.* (2022) Real-time monitoring of kefirfacilitated milk fermentation using microbial potentiometric sensors. *J Env Chem Eng* 10, 107491. doi:10.1016/j.jece.2022.107491
- Abu-Khalaf N, Masoud W (2022) Electronic nose for differentiation and quantification of yeast species in white fresh soft cheese. Sensors (Basel) 21, 8472661. doi:10.1155/2022/8472661
- Patra F, Duary RK (2022) Biosensors involved in fermented product. In 'Biosensors in Food Safety and Quality', 1st edn. p. 20. CRC Press.
- Poghossian A et al. (2019) Rapid methods and sensors for milk quality monitoring and spoilage detection. Biosens Bioelectr 140, 111272. doi:10.1016/j.bios.2019.04.040

Data availability. The data that support this study will be shared upon reasonable request to the corresponding author.

Conflicts of interest. The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

Declaration of funding. This research did not receive any specific funding.

Author affiliation

^ASchool of Science, RMIT University, Bundoora, Vic. 3083, Australia.

Biographies



Dr Christopher Pillidge is a Lecturer in Food Technology at RMIT University. Before joining RMIT he worked for over 18 years for the New Zealand dairy industry, including at Fonterra, where he worked on cheese lactic acid bacteria and probiotics. In 2006 he moved from New Zealand to join Dairy Innovation Australia Ltd. He took up a research position at RMIT in 2016.

His research interests include food microbiology, lactic acid bacteria and use of molecular methods to solve food industry problems.



Dr Roya Afshari is an Honorary Research Fellow at RMIT University. She was awarded her PhD from RMIT University in 2020. Her research showed that multi-omics together with data integration analysis represents a powerful new approach for gaining deeper insights into the microbiota-metabolite interactions that underpin cheese flavour and quality. In 2021, she joined a

commercial pharmaceutical and food ingredients company in Melbourne. Her research interests include molecular microbiology, metabolomics and use of multi-omics technologies to study food and natural products.



Harsharn Gill is a Professor of Food and Health Biosciences at RMIT University. He has over 25 years of experience in leading and managing food, nutrition and health R&D in the private and public sectors. Before joining RMIT, he held senior R&D leadership roles in Australia and New Zealand. He has received several major awards and has been appointed to international expert

panels, including WHO/FAO, NIH and IDF. Professor Gill sits on the editorial boards for several international scientific journals and patent-protected products resulting from his research have been commercialised globally.





Microbiology

The food microbiological analyst: pairing tradition with the future

Prudence Bramwell^{A,*}, Dean Clarke^B and Thishakya de Silva^B

For full list of author affiliations and declarations see end of paper

*Correspondence to: Prudence Bramwell School of Science, RMIT University, Melbourne, Vic. Australia Email: prue.bramwell@rmit.edu.au

ABSTRACT

Choosing methods for the detection, isolation and identification of foodborne pathogens or spoilage microorganisms from foodstuffs is a complex task. Although there are standard food microbiology methods available around the world, many have changed little in decades, while some tests take many days to perform. The use of automated technologies, genomics and rapid methods are now replacing many traditional tests. Food microbiology analysts need to understand the underlying science and limitations of these methods for food analysis and the crucial importance of validation protocols for correct results reported to customers. This article discusses the current status of food microbiology analysis in commercial laboratories, what the future food microbiology analytic laboratory looks like, and the education changes that may be required to become a future food microbiology analyst.

Keywords: food safety, food spoilage, foodborne disease, genomics, method validation, PCR, rapid methods, WGS.

Introduction

Food safety is important for all. The WHO has estimated that globally 600 million people get sick from foodborne illnesses each year including an estimated 420 000 deaths and loss of 33 million heathy years of life.¹ Apart from food safety, food spoilage and waste are also global issues. It has been estimated that one-third of all food produced globally is lost or wasted.² Not only is a large-scale spoilage issue detrimental to a brand but discarded spoiled food products cause losses in waste of energy input, land resources, water, shipping costs and more.³ Therefore, the role of the food microbiology analyst is critical in ensuring foodborne outbreaks are solved, food is constantly monitored for microbial safety and spoilage of food is minimised. This has a major effect on people's health, safety, and the economy. However, identification of microbes in food presents many challenges that need to be understood by food microbiology analysts. Food often contains many microorganisms in a complex food matrix. Finding the elusive pathogen that caused a foodborne outbreak or caused spoilage in a batch of food can be like finding a 'needle in a haystack'. Critical decisions need to be made by the trained food microbiologist to ensure the laboratory has the ability to choose the appropriate method to produce accurate, sensitive and specific results that truly reflect the microorganisms present in the food sample submitted for analysis.

Choosing the appropriate method

The decision about which method to use will be based on the food microbiologist asking the right questions such as: what is an appropriate sample size; is the sample homogenous; what is an appropriate subsample for analysis; how consistent are the subsamples; which portion or area of the sample to target or include in the process; and is there matrix interference such as with garlic or spices, that requires inhibition mitigation or extra dilution, due to their antimicrobial effects on the target organisms. Decisions also need to be made if qualitative or quantitative analysis is required based on infective dose and pathogen virulence. An important consideration for qualitative analysis is the type of enrichment performed to ensure enough of the pathogen is present to be detectable in subsequent steps, especially for severe pathogens with a low infective dose. Uniquely in microbiology, the test target can exist in a wide spectrum of viable states, that is, target

Received: 23 March 2022 Accepted: 21 April 2022 Published: 17 May 2022

Cite this:

Bramwell P et al. (2022) Microbiology Australia 43(2), 57–60. doi:10.1071/MA22024

© 2022 The Author(s) (or their employer(s)). Published by CSIRO Publishing on behalf of the ASM. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License (CC BY-NC-ND)

cells may be damaged to varying degrees, and this is often related to the effects of food processing. This, in turn, means it is important to consider method choices to ensure maximum recovery of stressed microorganisms, such as using broths versus plates, or adding selective steps later rather than sooner in the method. In addition, the design and use of selective and differential agars can have limitations related to visually separating the irrelevant microbes likely to be present in a food sample from the possible culprit. Measurement Uncertainty (MU) is another issue to be addressed.⁴ All routine test methods have MU, and as such, any numerical result should be seen as existing within a range of possible values within which the true value of the measurement lies. This must also be considered when obtaining a result, including the MU overlap of a specified or applied guideline. Numerous methods may be available for the same target organism. Does one method have lesser uncertainty (e.g. measurement of E. coli by acid production versus presence of a specific enzyme in chromogenic agars)? It is strongly advisable to consider MU when applying specific guidelines to produced results.

Food microbiology analysts need to be able to identify these issues when developing or implementing new technologies by being well trained in strict validation protocols. Although these questions have been addressed in designing international standards for the detection and identification of a handful of well-documented foodborne bacterial and viral pathogens, the CDC state that researchers have identified at least 250 foodborne diseases caused by a mix of bacteria, viruses and parasites,⁵ many of which would not have current validated standard food microbiological methods. This requires future method development addressing many of the questions above and deciding which of the developed and emerging methods might be appropriate.

Automated rapid technologies, genomics and the future

Over the last few decades, analytic food microbiology laboratories have embraced automated technologies using cultureindependent diagnostic platforms based on immunological principles or principles of nucleic acid amplification. The advantages of pathogen detection kits that rely on nucleic acid amplification techniques (such as but not limited to PCR) include significantly increased throughput, the potential to combine testing for multiple pathogens at one time, and the ability to detect viable but non-culturable (VBNC) microorganisms and others that are difficult to isolate by traditional culture techniques.⁶ Procedures for use of the 'black box' equipment for rapid automated technologies can be quite straight forward with good instructions, but there is still a very important need for training of analysts to understand the underlying science and method limitations. As an example, the sensitivity of a PCR test in foods can be greatly reduced in a complex food matrix, such that a false negative could be reported if the food contains ingredients that are PCR inhibitors.⁷ Another implication of automated technologies for the food microbiologist is to be able to change from observing a colony growing on a plate to reading a response, spike, or curve on a screen.

Many medical laboratories now use fully automated culture-independent diagnostic techniques, but most food microbiology analytic laboratories still do many tests using the traditional standard methods supplemented by modern automated methods. This is because microbial analysis of food can be significantly more challenging due to the mix of microorganisms typically present and possible low numbers of target pathogens compared to, say, identification of an infectious agent in normally sterile urine, CSF, or blood. In most cases a negative food pathogen result using the above technologies, such as a PCR test of sample taken directly from an enrichment broth, is enough to report the food sample result as negative and therefore the food as safe or compliant (notwithstanding the overriding importance of eliminating the likelihood of a false-negative); but if the test is positive, it is necessary to go back to the food sample (or at least the enrichment broth) and retest or confirm the result via an approved standard method that relies on isolating viable colonies.^{8,9} This retesting or additional analysis is necessary as it proves the food sample contained a living pathogen and not just left-over strands of genetic material from a pathogen captured using genetic analysis. This would lead to a false positive result, when in fact the food processing steps may have been correctly designed to kill any microorganisms in the raw or pre-processed food. Therefore, again, understanding the importance of validation and intended use and consequences of using these methods cannot be understated.

In further advancement, genomic technologies are now rapidly replacing culture methods⁶ as this technology advances and the cost of sequencing is continually decreased. Sequencing the genes that are diagnostic for a presumptive positive foodborne isolate growing on an agar plate is now routine in public health laboratories using commercially available sequencing equipment, but the interpretation of the sequencing reads requires people trained in bioinformatics. The advantage of genomics is that it can rapidly detect multiple genes or transcription products, which is invaluable in subtyping bacteria and for collecting epidemiological data. This is now critical for tracking foodborne outbreaks locally, nationally, and internationally in sufficient time to act. As the genomic analysis of SARS-CoV-2 has highlighted, gene sequencing is very important in assessing the evolutionary pathway of strains. In the same way, the sequencing of isolates to link clinical, food and environmental samples is invaluable in providing information about the origin of outbreaks, the path(s) of the pathogen from farm to fork,⁶ and ultimately in implementing change to improve food safety in a timely way.

The GenomeTrakr Network is an international collaboration of government, public health and academic laboratories that collect and openly share genomic and geographic data from foodborne pathogens for the benefit of public health. It is the most extensive and best-known application of Whole Genome Sequencing (WGS) to food safety.¹⁰ It includes the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA), Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), U.S. Department of Agriculture, U.S. National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI), state health departments, and international partners.^{11,12} It is vital to support public health and for the diagnosis and epidemiology of emerging pathogens, microbial genome variation and evolution, and new gene discovery.¹³

One recent technology that sits between traditional methods and genomics is matrix-assisted laser desorptionionisation time of flight mass spectrometry (MALDI-TOF MS). Again, food microbiology analysts who rely on the results of this technology should understand the underlying science and limitations. Its advantages are being useful for screening presumptive pathogenic or spoilage colony isolates as it generates rapid results, is cost effective and easy-to-use. However, identification of the isolated target relies heavily on the database of peptide mass fingerprints containing the spectra of known organisms¹⁴ and while databases are improving, they are not perfect, due to limitations of lack of sufficient spectra in the database and an inability to discriminate between some related species.¹⁵

There is a need for more rapid and precise methods for microbial food analysis and the use of genomics will eventually become more mainstream. However, this requires ongoing education around sequencing platforms and bioinformatics analysis to be able to correctly interpret the results. These methods, as with any new method including novel molecular methods, will require robust validation to determine the sensitivity, selectivity and in particular, reproducibility, to be applicable in a global framework. The end goal is for regulators, manufacturers and public health authorities to make clear and confident decisions based on these results. However traditional culturing also remains important to determine pathogen viability, for enumeration, and as a proof of experimental concept for data obtained from genomic methods.⁶

Conclusion

Being a food microbiologist is a truly fascinating career path with many strings to its bow, but to ensure the upcoming student who wishes to become a specialist in food microbiological analysis has the widest possible career options, tertiary education must now encompass not only traditional food microbiology analysis but also cutting edge molecular, genomic and associated bioinformatic technologies.

References

- 1. World Health Organization (2022) Estimating the burden of foodborne diseases. https://www.who.int/activities/estimating-theburden-of-foodborne-diseases
- OzHarvest (2022) Food waste facts. https://www.ozharvest.org/ food-waste-facts/
- 3. Snyder S, Worobo R (2015) Addressing food spoilage the elephant in the room. Food Technol 69, 32–39.
- Corry JEL (2007) A critical review of measurement uncertainty in the enumeration of food micro-organisms. *Food Microbiol* 24, 230–253. doi:10.1016/j.fm.2006.05.003
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) (2020) Foodborne germs and illnesses. https://www.cdc.gov/foodsafety/ foodborne-germs.html
- Gill A (2017) The importance of bacterial culture to food microbiology in the age of genomics. *Front Microbiol* 8, 777. doi:10.3389/ fmicb.2017.00777
- Salihah NT *et al.* (2016) Trends and advances in food analysis by real-time polymerase chain reaction. *J Food Sci Technol* 53, 2196–2209. doi:10.1007/s13197-016-2205-0
- Standards Australia (2010) Australian Standard AS5013.14.1 Food microbiology, Method 14.1: Microbiology of food and animal feeding stuffs - General requirements and guidance for microbiological examinations (ISO 7218:2007, MOD). https://www. standards.org.au/standards-catalogue/sa-snz/agriculture/ft-035/as-5013-dot-14-dot-1-2010
- McClure FD, Lee AK (2011) Determination of operating characteristic, retesting, and testing amount probabilities associated with testing for the presence of *Salmonella* in foods. *J AOAC Int* 94, 327–334. doi:10.1093/jaoac/94.1.327
- FDA (2021) Genome Trackr Network. https://www.fda.gov/food/ whole-genome-sequencing-wgs-program/genometrakr-network
- Pightling AW *et al.* (2018) Interpreting whole-genome sequence analyses of foodborne bacteria for regulatory applications and outbreak investigations. *Front Microbiol* 9, 1482. doi:10.3389/ fmicb.2018.01482
- Allard MW et al. (2016) Practical value of food pathogen traceability through building a whole-genome sequencing network and database. J Clin Microbiol 54, 1975–1983. doi:10.1128/JCM.00081-16
- Brown E *et al.* (2019) Use of whole-genome sequencing for food safety and public health in the United States. *Foodborne Pathog Dis* 16, 441–450. doi:10.1089/fpd.2019.2662
- Singhal N et al. (2015) MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry: an emerging technology for microbial identification and diagnosis. Front Microbiol 6, 791. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2015.00791
- Rychert J (2019) Benefits and limitations of MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry for the identification of microorganisms. *J Infectiology* 2, 1–5. doi:10.29245/2689-9981/2019/4/4.142

Data availability. Data sharing is not applicable as no new data were generated or analysed during this study.

Conflicts of interest. The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

Declaration of funding. This research did not receive any specific funding.

Author affiliations

^ASchool of Science, RMIT University, Melbourne, Vic. Australia.

^BNational Measurement Institute (NMI), Port Melbourne, Vic. Australia.

Biographies



Prudence Bramwell is an Honorary Associate Professor at RMIT University. She has over 30 years' experience in food microbiology. Prior to her 25 years at RMIT as an academic educator in the fields of food microbiology and food safety, she has held positions in Microbiology at both the University of Melbourne and University of Sydney and at the Australian Government Analytical

Laboratories (the latter now amalgamated into the National Measurement Institute) in the field of microbiological analysis. While at AGAL she was a registered NATA auditor of Biological Laboratories. While at RMIT she held certificates as an advanced food safety auditor and associate quality auditor with Exemplar Global. Her research interests are in methods for the isolation and identification of foodborne microbes.



Dean Clarke is a Microbiologist and Biochemist with dual interests in Food Microbiology and Food Allergens. Dean is the senior microbiologist and manager of the Australian National Measurement Institutes' Microbiology and Allergen Laboratories in Port Melbourne. He is an authorised Public Analyst under the Victorian Food Act and Health Act and a NATA auditor for Food Allergens and

Food/Water Microbiology. Dean has a Bachelor of Science in Microbiology and Biochemistry from LaTrobe University and is a founding member and convener of the Australian Allergen Testing – Special Interest Group (AT-SIG). He has over 20 years' experience in immunologically based food analysis for allergens, speciation, microbiological organisms and toxins.



Thish de Silva is the Research and Development Coordinator for the Analytical Services Branch of the National Measurement Institute, Australia (NMIA). Thish's professional expertise range from food and health Sciences. She has a PhD in Biotechnology working towards perfecting the Australian Strawberry Varieties, a project funded by Horticulture Australia in collaboration with

RMIT University. Over the past 7 years she was involved with development of methods for bacterial filtration efficiency measurements for surgical masks and to measure efficacy of hand sanitisers, effectively addressing Australia's COVID measurement gaps, and developing tools to measure antibacterial activity in Australian honey types supporting the honey industry. Thish also closely works with universities by facilitating collaborative research and post graduate student placements at the NMI. When invited, she supports NATA and Standards Australia with their technical assessments and technical committees respectively. Her research interests are in food safety and quality assurance.

BE HEARD

for Microbiology

We're working towards a more informed society.

Have your say now.

www.theasm.org.au



Microbiology

Vibrio parahaemolyticus: an Australian perspective

Claire E. Hedges^{A,B,*}

For full list of author affiliations and declarations see end of paper

*Correspondence to: Claire E. Hedges Biosciences & Food Technology Discipline, School of Science, RMIT University, Melbourne, Vic., Australia Email: s3552671@student.rmit.edu.au

ABSTRACT

A recent outbreak of gastroenteritis caused by *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* following consumption of South Australian oysters has brought to the forefront an increasing hazard for the Australian oyster industry and consumers. Vibrio pathogens have been sparsely implicated in illnesses in Australia; however, rising sea temperatures and varied weather conditions delivered by climate change could be driving the increased prevalence of these pathogens in our oyster growing regions. This is a brief overview of *Vibrio parahaemolyticus*, the risk it presents to our industry and consumers, and an insight into the limitations involved with detection and identification of the pathogen in foods.

Keywords: Australia, foodborne diseases, food safety, microbiology, oysters, qPCR, *Vibrio parahaemolyticus*.

Vibrios as human pathogens

Vibrios are ubiquitous in marine and estuarine environments and the genus encompasses over 140 species, with many involved in symbiotic relationships with marine life.¹ The comma-shaped, Gram-negative bacteria with polar flagella generally present no risk to humans; however, within the genus there are a small proportion, at least 12 species, that are human pathogens.² These pathogens are capable of causing infections ranging from ear or wound infections to foodborne illness and sepsis.² The most notable of these is *Vibrio cholerae*, a water and foodborne pathogen that is the causative agent of cholera. Presently, however, it is non-choleragenic vibrios causing concerns for the Australian seafood industry. The species of greatest concern in Australia currently is *Vibrio parahaemolyticus*. Some strains of *V. parahaemolyticus* are pathogenic and capable of causing gastroenteritis that is primarily associated with consumption of raw seafoods, particularly oysters.³ In Australia, oysters are a significant commodity and in 2019–2020 it is estimated that over 11.2 million retail dozens were sold, to a total of over \$100 million for the industry.⁴

In many major seafood producing and consuming countries such as the United States, China, Japan and Korea, *V. parahaemolyticus* is recognised as a leading cause of seafood-associated illness.^{5–7} Concerningly, the number of infections in many areas appears to be increasing.⁷

Virulence qualities and the changing climate

Like other species within the genus, there is a high degree of genetic diversity among *V. parahaemolyticus* strains and importantly, not all strains are pathogenic. The molecular markers typically utilised to indicate pathogenicity are the thermostable direct haemolysin (*tdh*) gene and the TDH-related hemolysin (*trh*) gene or a combination of both.⁸ Clinical isolates have been found to contain these markers approximately 90% of the time whereas environmental or food isolates carry a low likelihood of possessing these genes with only 1–10% of isolates carrying the markers.⁹ In terms of distribution in seawater, Vibrio species have an increased presence in coastal tropical areas due to their preference for warmer water.¹⁰ There are also indications that changing salinity levels and algal blooms can contribute to a greater risk of pathogenic vibrio species being present in certain areas.¹

It is this predilection of vibrios for warm water which has prompted concerns about changing climates and warming sea temperatures.¹¹ In recent decades, incidences of vibrio-associated illnesses have been occurring in cooler climates where there had previously been no known cases.¹² Studies have revealed an upward trend in case numbers in already affected populations and many have positively correlated large outbreaks to warm weather events.¹⁰ The persistence of this pathogen overseas has prompted surveys in many marketplaces and oyster farming regions to understand its prevalence.^{13–15} Models have also been developed, such as the surface sea-water temperature monitoring system by the European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC) to enhance risk prediction.¹⁶

Received: 23 March 2022 Accepted: 24 April 2022 Published: 17 May 2022

Cite this:

Hedges CE (2022) Microbiology Australia **43**(2), 61–63. doi:10.1071/MA22021

© 2022 The Author(s) (or their employer(s)). Published by CSIRO Publishing on behalf of the ASM. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License (CC BY-NC-ND)

Vibrio parahaemolyticus in Australia

In Australia, the prevalence of vibrio infections historically has been intermittent, with many of the reported infections linked to overseas travel or the consumption of imported foods.^{17,18} However, in the recent decade, outbreaks of V. parahaemolyticus infections associated with locally produced seafood appear to have been increasing.¹⁹ The most recent of these outbreaks occurred over November-December 2021, where reports from this time period indicated that over 250 people had fallen ill across multiple states after consuming oysters harvested in Coffin Bay, South Australia.20 In 2016, there were two separate outbreaks of V. parahaemolyticus infections in Australia, one in Tasmania associated with consumption of Tasmanian grown oysters involving 11 cases and one in Western Australia associated with consumption of South Australian oysters involving nine cases.¹⁹ This increase in infections could be correlated to warming sea surface temperatures and weather events, with Australia not being spared effects of climate change.²¹ There are other factors that might be contributing to an apparent increase in prevalence and it has been noted there is potential that infections are being under reported due to the bacteria previously not being included in clinical panels.¹⁹ There are also varying State and Territory requirements as to whether Vibrio spp. infections are notifiable illnesses which can leave gaps in epidemiological data collection.¹⁹

V. parahaemolyticus is not a new pathogen; however, its increasing prevalence with many unknown contributing factors does complicate risk management practices. There are few guidelines available for safe levels of V. parahaemolyticus in food as the virulence is unclear. Food Standards Australia New Zealand (FSANZ), the Australian statutory authority which develops and maintains the Australian Food Standards Code, provides recommendation for levels of the bacteria in Ready to Eat (RTE) foods.²² This serves as a guideline only and does not provide impetus for regular screening of seafood products. There are also some state guidelines in place to mitigate risks, such as control plans implemented by Tasmanian state authorities.²³ Despite these controls, there is still much to learn about the distribution of pathogenic strains of V. parahaemolyticus in Australian oyster growing areas. This prompts the need for further research to understand variations in the Vibrio populations during weather events and as sea water temperatures rise. Improvements in detection and identification methodologies would also assist in routine monitoring of the bacteria levels during varying weather conditions and assist in the development of appropriate risk management procedures.

Methods of detection and identification of V. parahaemolyticus

Questions have also been raised about the suitability of currently recommended methodologies for the detection and enumeration of both total and pathogenic *V. parahaemolyticus* in food. To adopt routine or surveillance testing and ensure testing results are consistent across multiple areas, access to robust, validated methods that are easily adopted by laboratories with a range of capabilities are required. Available methods for use by laboratories are described in a joint document by the Food and Agriculture Organisation (FAO) and the World Health Organization (WHO).²⁴ The traditional culture-based method of detection for vibrios is laid out in the Bacteriological Analysis Manual (BAM) by the United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA) as well as in the International Standards Organisation (ISO) standard ISO21872-1.^{25,26} Briefly, 10–12 oyster specimens are homogenised and weighed into a selective broth for enrichment and then plated

onto selective agar. Suspect colonies are then analysed using probes or transferred to non-selective agar for biochemical testing to identify bacterial species. Enumeration can be achieved by combining this method with a Most Probable Number (MPN) protocol to determine counts per gram. Many MPN methods for detection of *V. parahaemolyticus*, including the current Australian Standard AS 5013.18, utilise a three tube technique.²⁷ This provides a limit of detection (LOD) of 3 MPN/g, which may not be sensitive enough in some applications. There are alternative methods available that can provide far greater sensitivity, such as the US FDA BAM method that utilises a polymerase chain reaction (PCR) MPN method that can quantify down to 0.3 MPN/g. The increased sensitivity confers many benefits and can improve low level detections of pathogenic bacteria.

The MPN technique for quantification is the most accessible for laboratories but carries limitations, including lengthy result turnarounds and numerous confirmation tests for suspect colonies. Confirmation testing is vital for characterising the pathogenicity and virulence of V. parahaemolyticus isolates and can include detection of genes which indicate pathogenicity, sequence typing and serotyping. The time to detection and identification is a key aspect for the oyster industry and regulators who require rapid information in order to deliver safe products to the marketplace. Conversely, this method provides the best opportunity for genomic investigation of colonies and for epidemiological tracing. Also of concern with culture-based methods is the potential for bacterial cells to be missed. Some research has indicated difficulties in detecting and identifying vibrio spp. in samples, which can be partially attributed to their ability to enter a viable but not culturable (VBNC) state.28

The preferred alternative to culture-based methods in terms of rapidity and sensitivity is quantitative PCR (qPCR). For qPCR applications, there are multiple options available in terms of methodologies or commercial kits to use, many using different gene targets and having varying sensitivities. For detection and enumeration of total V. parahaemolyticus numbers within a sample, the ISO standard, ISO-21872, utilises VpToxR for species level detection and trh and tdh as molecular markers of pathogenicity.²⁶ Recent research has indicated the potential for false negative results using the trh gene as a marker, due to high sequence variability among strains and suggests an alternative target, a urease gene (UreR) which is located directly upstream to trh and highly conserved.²⁹ With such rich genetic diversity among V. parahaemolyticus strains and high homology to closely related species, it is important to investigate the most appropriate gene targets for PCR testing. Recent advances in technology have also provided accessibility to previously out of reach techniques, such as whole genome sequencing (WGS) and next generation sequencing (NGS). Utilising these tools to understand more about the genetic diversity of isolates and their pathogenicity will confer great benefits, particularly during outbreaks of illness. As V. parahaemolyticus infections increase, so too does the data available, and further work is warranted to determine the most appropriate analyses for detection and identification and to ensure there are standardised methods available to allow for optimal sensitivity and accuracy of testing.

Looking to the future

As the climate continues to change around the world and microbial communities shift with it, further research is required to protect our industries and consumers. Improvement in methods of detection and identification of *V. parahaemolyticus* as well as increased surveillance with epidemiological tracing can ensure Australia's safe enjoyment of oysters for years to come.

References

- 1. Sampaio A *et al.* (2022) *Vibrio* spp.: life strategies, ecology, and risks in a changing environment. *Diversity* **14**, 97. doi:10.3390/d14020097
- Baker-Austin C et al. (2018) Vibrio spp. infections. Nat Rev Dis Primers 4, 1–19. doi:10.1038/s41572-018-0005-8
- FAO/WHO (2011) Risk assessment of Vibrio parahaemolyticus in seafood: interpretative summary and technical report. Microbiological Risk Assessment Series No. 16.
- ABARES (2022) Agricultural Commodities: March quarter 2022, Australian Bureau of Agricultural and Resource Economics and Sciences, Canberra. CC BY 4.0. doi:10.25814/9x91-hc32
- 5. Li Y *et al.* (2020) Food-borne Vibrio parahaemolyticus in China: prevalence, antibiotic susceptibility, and genetic characterization. *Front Microbiol* **11**, 1670. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2020.01670
- 6. Park K *et al.* (2018) Food-borne outbreaks, distributions, virulence, and antibiotic resistance profiles of *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* in Korea from 2003 to 2016: a review. *Fish Aquat Sci* **21**, 3. doi:10.1186/s41240-018-0081-4
- 7. FAO and WHO (2021) Advances in science and risk assessment tools for *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* and *V. vulnificus* associated with seafood: meeting report. Microbiological Risk Assessment Series.
- Wang R et al. (2015) The pathogenesis, detection, and prevention of Vibrio parahaemolyticus. Front Microbiol 6, 144. doi:10.3389/ fmicb.2015.00144
- 9. Raghunath P (2015) Roles of thermostable direct hemolysin (TDH) and TDH-related hemolysin (TRH) in Vibrio parahaemolyticus. Front Microbiol 5, 805. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2014.00805
- Froelich BA, Daines DA (2020) In hot water: effects of climate change on *Vibrio*-human interactions. *Environmental microbiology* 22, 4101–4111. doi:10.1111/1462-2920.14967
- 11. Baker-Austin C *et al.* (2017) Non-cholera vibrios: the microbial barometer of climate change. *Trends Microbiol* **25**, 76–84. doi:10.1016/j.tim.2016.09.008
- McLaughlin JB et al. (2005) Outbreak of Vibrio parahaemolyticus gastroenteritis associated with Alaskan oysters. N Engl J Med 353, 1463–1470. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa051594
- Song X *et al.* (2020) Occurrence and identification of pathogenic Vibrio contaminants in common seafood available in a Chinese traditional market in Qingdao, Shandong Province. Front Microbiol 11, 1488. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2020.01488
- DePaola A et al. (2010) Bacterial and viral pathogens in live oysters: 2007 United States market survey. Appl Environ Microbiol 76, 2754–2768.
- 15. Scharer K *et al.* (2011) Occurrence of *Vibrio* spp. in fish and shellfish collected from the Swiss market. *J Food Prot* **74**, 1345–1347. doi:10.4315/0362-028X.JFP-11-001

- Semenza JC et al. (2017) Environmental suitability of Vibrio infections in a warming climate: an early warning system. Environ Health Perspect 125, 107004. doi:10.1289/EHP2198
- Hsu C-Y et al. (2013) Locally acquired severe non-O1 and non-O139 Vibrio cholerae infection associated with ingestion of imported seafood. Med J Aust 199, 26–27. doi:10.5694/mja13.10087
- 18. Kraa E (1995) Surveillance and epidemiology of foodborne illness in NSW, Australia. *Food Australia* **47**, 418–420, 422–423.
- Harlock M et al. (2022) Emergence of non-choleragenic Vibrio infections in Australia. Commun Dis Intell Q Rep 46, 1–7. doi:10.33321/cdi.2022.46.8
- FSANZ (2021) Vibrio parahaemolyticus and raw Pacific oysters from Coffin Bay, SA. https://www.foodstandards.gov.au/industry/ FoodIncidents/Pages/Vibrio-parahaemolyticus-and-raw-Pacificoysters.aspx
- Scanes E *et al.* (2020) Climate change rapidly warms and acidifies Australian estuaries. *Nat Commun* 11, 1803. doi:10.1038/s41467-020-15550-z
- 22. Food Standards Australia New Zealand (2022) Compendium of Microbiological Criteria for Food.
- 23. Oysters Tasmania (2018) Food safety management system for live Tasmianian farmed bivalve molluscs. https://dpipwe.tas.gov.au/ Documents/Food%20Safety%20Management%20System%20for %20Live%20Tasmanian%20Farmed%20Bivalve%20Molluscs.doc
- FAO/WHO (2016) Selection and application of methods for the detection and enumeration of human-pathogenic halophilic *Vibrio* spp. in seafood: guidance. Microbiological Risk Assessment Series No. 22, 74.
- 25. Kaysner CA, DePaola A BAM Chapter 9: Vibrio.
- 26. ISO (2017) Microbiology of the food chain horizontal method for the determination of *Vibrio* spp. Part 1: Detection of potentially enteropathogenic *Vibrio parahaemolyticus*, *Vibrio cholera* and *Vibrio vulnificus*.
- Standards Australia (2010) AS 5013.18 Food microbiology Method 18: Examination for specific organisms - Vibrio parahaemolyticus.
- Madigan TL et al. (2007) A supply-chain assessment of marine Vibrios in Pacific oysters in South Australia: prevalence, quantification and public health risk. https://www.frdc.com.au/sites/ default/files/products/2005-401-DLD.PDF
- Nilsson WB, Turner JW (2016) The thermostable direct hemolysinrelated hemolysin (trh) gene of Vibrio parahaemolyticus: Sequence variation and implications for detection and function. J Microbiol Methods 126, 1–7. doi:10.1016/j.mimet.2016.04.007

Data availability. Data sharing is not applicable as no new data were generated or analysed during this study.

Conflicts of interest. The author declares no conflicts of interest.

Declaration of funding. This work was supported by RMIT University and the National Measurement Institute (NMI).

Author affiliations

^ABiosciences & Food Technology Discipline, School of Science, RMIT University, Melbourne, Vic., Australia. ^BNational Measurement Institute, Port Melbourne, Vic., Australia.

Biography



Claire Hedges graduated with a Master of Biotechnology (Food Science) from RMIT University in 2017 and is currently a PhD candidate researching pathogenic *Vibrios* in seafood products through a collaboration between RMIT University and the National Measurement Institute (NMI). Alongside her studies, Claire works as a Research Development Officer at the NMI and her research

interests include facemask testing, molecular microbiology and bioinformatics.



Biofilms of foodborne pathogenic bacteria: how important are they?

Gary A. Dykes^{A,*}

For full list of author affiliations and declarations see end of paper

*Correspondence to: Gary A. Dykes School of Agriculture and Food Sciences, University of Queensland, Keyhole Road, St Lucia, Qld 4067, Australia Email: gad@uq.edu.au

ABSTRACT

Biofilms are recognised as an important mode of life in bacteria. All species of foodborne bacterial pathogens are known to form biofilms *in vitro* under the right growth conditions. This fact is often extrapolated to claim that biofilms are critical to the transmission of foodborne pathogens, particularly during processing. While this may be the case little direct *in situ* evidence, with some exceptions, is available to confirm this. This is because there are a number of difficulties in studying pathogen biofilms in food processing facilities. The reasons for these issues are discussed by comparison to work in the medical biofilm area, and by using species such as *Listeria monocytogenes* and *Campylobacter jejuni* as examples. A range of potential solutions and avenues for future research are presented.

Keywords: biofilms, Campylobacter, foodborne pathogens, food processing, industry, in situ, Listeria, pathogenic E. coli.

Introduction

Biofilms are generally defined as a community of microorganisms attached to a surface or interface, and to each other, and encased in a matrix that they have produced. The matrix consists of extracellular polysaccharides, proteins and extracellular DNA and provides protection from the environment, a nutrient trap and facilitates interaction between cells.¹ Estimates suggest that upward of 40% of prokaryotic life exist in biofilms confirming the importance of this mode of life and the need to understand it better in a range of contexts.²

It is widely asserted that biofilms are critical to the ability of bacterial foodborne pathogens, such as Listeria monocytogenes, Salmonella enterica, pathogenic Escherichia *coli* and thermophilic *Campylobacter*, to move through the food system (particularly during processing) and cause human disease.³ For this reason, studies investigating biofilm formation by single strains or collections of foodborne pathogenic bacteria in model systems, some mimicking those seen in food processing, are legion (without identifying specific papers a brief search of any database will confirm this). A high proportion of these studies use a micro-titre plate-based (polystyrene) crystal violet assay to quantify the biofilms, sometimes under a range of incubation conditions. In these cases the bacterial strains used (or most of them) demonstrate an ability to form biofilms in the model system. Often conclusions are drawn about their capability (or potential capability) to use biofilms to survive, persist and transmit in food-related environments. Rightly the caveat that further investigations need to be conducted, ideally in situ during food production, before any strong conclusions can be drawn is sometimes included. Unfortunately, aside from providing evidence of the wide distribution of the biofilm formation trait, these studies often contribute very little to our understanding of the role of foodborne pathogen biofilms in the food system. The reasons these studies fail in this regard, the difficulties in conducting more relevant studies and possible solutions to this are discussed below.

Why is it difficult to study foodborne pathogenic biofilms in situ?

In primary or further processing food facilities, particularly those processing high risk foods, the presence of pathogens is generally monitored for daily using swabs and/or product samples. For example, *Listeria monocytogenes* is monitored for in a range of small goods, dairy, fish, and poultry production facilities. In many of these which produce ready-to-eat largely untreated foods, such as fresh fish, the concerns around biofilms of

Received: 29 March 2022 Accepted: 28 April 2022 Published: 17 May 2022

Cite this: Dykes GA (2022) *Microbiology Australia* **43**(2), 64–66. doi:10.1071/MA22020

© 2022 The Author(s) (or their employer(s)). Published by CSIRO Publishing on behalf of the ASM. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License (CC BY-NC-ND)

this (and other) pathogens are clearly greater than in others, such as dairy. If positives are encountered corrective actions are taken which may entail stopping production, tracing back potential contamination in raw ingredients and implementing extensive additional cleaning protocols.⁴ Product recalls may also ensue. Often these actions will resolve the problem and production will begin again. In the case of L. monocytogenes, only if the problem persists and the same strain reoccurs will consideration be given to the potential of a biofilm reinfecting the plant. In most cases tracing the source of the potential biofilms is difficult and doing so requires dismantling equipment, stopping production and specialist testing. In many cases the strain of concern cannot be traced, and L. monocytogenes biofilms cannot be confirmed.⁵ In the case of other pathogens the situation may be more difficult with single persistent strains not generally the only cause of contamination. A further complication is apparent in that a wide range of potential bacteria can and do form biofilms in processing facilities, including on floors and walls, and in drains, which create a lot 'noise' in locating the pathogen of concern.

A comparison to what may be entailed in establishing the presence of biofilms on a medical catheter, implants or on teeth can give us insights into the issues with foodprocessing facility related biofilms. Generally, an infection in a patient alerts clinical staff to a potential issue. In the case of catheters or teeth, for example, they may be removed providing a ready source of material to investigate in situ biofilms using microscopy and disruptive sampling for molecular techniques. In the case of implants the relatively sterile interior of the human body often means only a single strain or species will form biofilms and cause issues and this strain can be isolated. These approaches can establish without a doubt that a biofilm is contributing to their persistence.⁶ In food production only a limited number of foods, such as heat processed dairy products, may provide similar scenarios. However, while heat resistant spore forming spoilage bacteria, such as Geobacillus, can be categorically shown to form biofilms in dairy processing pipes,⁷ pathogenic bacteria are generally not a major issue in these systems and are controlled by the heat.

The above scenarios highlight the key issues in establishing a role for biofilm formation by foodborne pathogenic bacteria *in situ* during processing. Namely, (1) the availability of samples of equipment and infrastructure to investigate the categorical presence of pathogen biofilms; (2) the complexity of the microbiological populations during processing and the ability to identify pathogens among other species; and (3) the difficulty of establishing if pathogens are part of mixed-species biofilms or simply adhering to them as they might to other surfaces.

What are the potential solutions to conducting more relevant studies?

To establish the importance of biofilms in bacterial foodborne pathogen transmission, and particularly during food processing, some systematic changes in the way they are investigated are required. The first of these changes is conducting *in vitro* studies which provide information on the ability of pathogens to form biofilms under conditions more relevant to food-related environments. For example, numerous studies examine biofilm formation by *Campylobacter jejuni* at 37°C or 42°C in microaerobic environments in monoculture using micro-titre plates and draw conclusions about their importance in processing. This is not really useful as *C. jejuni* is very unlikely to encounter these conditions in the processing environment.⁸ Studies in air, at ambient processing temperatures, and together with other bacteria that form biofilms suggest that *C. jejuni* is far more likely a 'passenger' on surfaces and other biofilms than an active biofilm former or participant in the community.⁹

The second is the wider introduction of in-processing biofilm sampling equipment. Some studies have been conducted by adhering, for example, stainless steel slides onto equipment or in drains which are then removed at particular times. A more satisfactory approach is the design of equipment and infrastructure with removable and replaceable areas or sections which can be routinely monitored as 'sentinels' for the presence of biofilm formation and in particular pathogens forming or associated with the biofilms. The potential for inline real-time monitoring of biofilms through digital means is a reality in some plants and situations but generally does not indicate the presence or absence of pathogens.¹⁰

The third is the development of markers for biofilm formation. Differentiating cells that are simply present or transitory from cells that have been growing in a biofilm is critical to understanding the broader role of biofilm formation in foodborne pathogen transmission. This is an area which is receiving a lot of attention in the medical biofilm sphere and in which little work has been conducted in the foodborne pathogen space. The presence of extracellular molecular components produced only in the biofilm matrix, including polysaccharides or extracellular DNA, using mass spectroscopy or other methods, for example, may represent a way to assess if cells are part of, or have been recently associated with, biofilms. Other potential options may include the presence or absence of flagella that are switched on or off in a biofilm. This approach is in its infancy but is likely to grow in importance as techniques for detecting molecules evolve.¹¹

The fourth approach is to develop a better understanding of the relationship between foodborne pathogenic bacteria and non-pathogenic microbes that are strong biofilm formers. As indicated above, biofilms in most food processing facilities are unlikely to be monocultures and the complex biofilms that form in drains, for example, may provide environments that allow pathogen biofilm formation. An example of one such group of organisms of wide interest in this context are the pseudomonads. Psychrotrophic Pseudomonas species can form extensive biofilms on surfaces and on food themselves. They may also provide environments conducive to the survival of foodborne pathogens such as C. jejuni.⁹ However, what is not clear is how they interact with pathogens at a physical and molecular level and how this impacts their survival. The advent of 'omics' technologies and more sensitive molecular detection techniques will allow a better understanding of these interactions and provide possible mechanisms to manipulate them to the positive.¹²

Conclusion

In short, the answer posed to the question in the title is that in most cases, with some exception, we don't know. What we do know is that, unsurprisingly, most if not all foodborne bacterial pathogens can form biofilms and occur in processing facilities. We need to move on from re-establishing this to work on understanding if and where biofilms play a role in individual pathogen/food processing combinations. This requires not only a better understanding of biofilms *in situ* but also closer cooperation with industry, both of which have their own challenges.

References

- 1. Donlan RM (2002) Biofilms: microbial life on surfaces. *Emerg Infect Dis* **8**, 881–890. doi:10.3201/eid0809.020063
- Flemming HC, Wuertz S (2019) Bacteria and archaea on Earth and their abundance in biofilms. Nat Rev Microbiol 17, 247–260. doi:10.1038/s41579-019-0158-9
- Zhoa X *et al.* (2017) Biofilm formation and control strategies of foodborne pathogens: food safety perspectives. *RSC Adv* 7, 36670. doi:10.1039/C7RA02497E
- 4. Larsen MH et al. (2014) Persistence of foodborne pathogens and their control in primary and secondary food production

chains. Food Control 44, 92-109. doi:10.1016/j.foodcont.2014. 03.039

- Fagerlund *et al.* (2021) Microbial diversity and ecology of biofilms in food industry environments associated with *Listeria monocytogenes* persistence. *Curr Opin Food Sci* 37, 171–178. doi:10.1016/j. cofs.2020.10.015
- Caldara M et al. (2022) Environmental, microbiological, and immunological features of bacterial biofilms associated with implanted medical devices. *Clin Microbiol Rev* 35, e00221-20. doi:10.1128/cmr.00221-20
- Flint S et al. (2020) Bacterial fouling in dairy processing. Int Dairy J 101, 104593. doi:10.1016/j.idairyj.2019.104593
- Teh AHT et al. (2014) Does Campylobacter jejuni form biofilms in food-related environments? Appl Environ Microbiol 80, 5154–5160. doi:10.1128/AEM.01493-14
- Teh AHT et al. (2019) Association of some Campylobacter jejuni with Pseudomonas aeruginosa biofilms increases attachment under conditions mimicking those in the environment. PLoS One 14, e0215275. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0215275
- Hongbin P et al. (2021) Optical nanosensors for biofilm detection in the food industry: principles, applications and challenges. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr* 61, 2107–2124. doi:10.1080/10408398.2020. 1808877
- Xu Y *et al.* (2020) Sensing the unreachable: challenges and opportunities in biofilm detection. *Curr Opin Biotechnol* 64, 79–84. doi:10.1016/j.copbio.2019.10.009
- Sadiq FA et al. (2021) Community-wide changes reflecting bacterial interspecific interactions in multispecies biofilms. Crit Rev Microbiol 47, 338–358. doi:10.1080/1040841X.2021.1887079

Data availability. Data sharing is not applicable as no new data were generated or analysed during this study.

Conflicts of interest. The author declares no conflicts of interest.

Declaration of funding. This research did not receive any specific funding.

Author affiliation

^ASchool of Agriculture and Food Sciences, University of Queensland, Keyhole Road, St Lucia, Qld 4067, Australia.

Biography



Gary Dykes is an Honorary Professor in the School of Agriculture and Food Sciences at the University of Queensland and runs his own consulting business. His research interests in survival, persistence and control of foodborne pathogenic bacteria with a focus on surface attachment and biofilm formation by *Campylobacter* and *Salmonella*.

Access to Microbiology Australia

Online early articles: Articles appear on the *Microbiology Australia* website (http://microbiology.publish.csiro.au/) when authors have approved the pdf of their article.

Completed issues:

Register at http://microbiology.publish.csiro.au/

to receive notification that an issue is complete.

You will get an email showing the titles and abstracts of the completed issue. You will have one click access to any article or the whole issue.

Print issue: ASM members are welcome to receive the print version of *Microbiology Australia* without charge. To receive the print version you need to notify the ASM National Office (http://www.theasm.org.au/).



Are point of management assays relevant for food safety in the poultry industries?

J. M. Templeton^{A,*}, J. R. Botella^B and P. J. Blackall^C

For full list of author affiliations and declarations see end of paper

*Correspondence to:

J. M. Templeton Intensive Livestock & Food Safety, Department of Agriculture and Fisheries, EcoSciences Precinct, GPO Box 267, Brisbane, Qld 4001, Australia Email: jillian.templeton@daf.qld.gov.au

ABSTRACT

The current pandemic has ensured considerable attention has been paid to the role of the approach termed 'Point of Care' diagnostics. Indeed, the term 'RAT' (Rapid Antigen Test) and RAT hunting now have totally different meaning to that widely understood before 2020. In the veterinary field, including food safety, the term used for these types of rapid in situ assays is 'Point of Management' (POM) assays. In this article, we describe our recent research on low cost, low technology, in-house style POM assays in the field of food safety as applied to the poultry industries. We then discuss what are the advantages and disadvantages of these low cost, low technology POM assays.

Keywords: Campylobacter, chicken, food safety, isothermal, LAMP, point of management, poultry, Salmonella.

Key food safety pathogens for the poultry industries

As with all food production systems, the potential for food safety pathogens to enter the system and cause human illness is a key issue for the Australian poultry industries. Two genera dominate the food safety issues linked to the poultry industries – Campylobacter and Salmonella.

Over 96 million cases of food-borne illness linked to Campylobacter jejuni and C. coli are estimated to occur globally each year.¹ The Australian infection rate of 146.9 cases per 100 000 population² is one of the highest among the industrialised countries.³ Importantly, while not the only source of Campylobacter, it is recognised that in Australia, undercooked poultry are a major source.⁴

Salmonella is second only to Campylobacter as the most notified enteric pathogen in Australia.² As with *Campylobacter*, while there are multiple sources of human infections, raw and undercooked foods, eggs, and to a lesser degree poultry meat, are often associated with Salmonella infections.⁵

Food-borne pathogens impose costs onto both broad society as well as the production system. While figures are not available for Australia, a recent report estimated that campylobacteriosis costs the US (population >10 times that of Australia but with 10 times lower *Campylobacter* infection rate³) in the range of US\$1.5–US\$6.9 billion per year depending on the calculation method.⁶ The reduced income and increased expenses associated with Salmonella in the Australian egg industry were estimated to cost \$7 million annually in 2015–2016.⁷ The scale of these economic impacts to both broad society as well as the producers emphasises the need for improved control of foodborne pathogens in the poultry industries.

POM assays

Our work in the development of POM assays arose from the finding that dipsticks made from untreated cellulose-based paper can bind nucleic acids in seconds, retain them during a rinse step that removes the contaminants and then release the nucleic acids when placed in a reaction buffer.^{8,9} We have combined the low-cost DNA extraction technology with isothermal amplification performed in another existing innovation – the 'Diagnostic Droid'.¹⁰ The workflow involves a centrifugation of a 2 mL aliquot of carcass rinse, a treatment of the pellet with proteinase K and heat denaturation to release the DNA. Two dipsticks are added to bind the DNA and purify it away from the contaminants. Each dipstick is then given a single wash and the DNA eluted into a loop mediated

Received: 18 March 2022 Accepted: 13 April 2022 Published: 18 May 2022

Cite this: Templeton JM et al. (2022) Microbiology Australia 43(2), 67-70. doi:10.1071/MA22025

© 2022 The Author(s) (or their employer(s)) and The State of Oueensland (through the Department of Agriculture and Fisheries). Published by CSIRO Publishing on behalf of the ASM. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License (CC BY-NC-ND)



Fig. 1. Work flow for the *Campylobacter* Point-of-Management assay. A 2 mL aliquot of the carcass rinse is centrifuged (5 min) and the pellet resuspended, treated with proteinase K and heated to lyse cells and release DNA. The two cellulose dipsticks are added to the crude lysate to bind the released DNA. The dipsticks are then placed in a wash buffer and then in the LAMP reaction mix (one for *C. jejuni* and one for *C. coli*). The LAMP reactions proceed for 100 min at 65°C in the 'Diagnostic Droid'. The Droid monitors the reaction and interprets the result.

isothermal amplification (LAMP) reaction mix for either C. jejuni or C. coli. The 'Diagnostic Droid' performs the amplification step and monitors the increase in turbidity associated with a positive LAMP reaction by illuminating the reaction tubes with an LED and measuring the amount of scattered light via a light sensor perpendicular to the LED light source. The results are automatically interpreted with no need for human involvement and are available within 2.5 h¹⁰ (see Fig. 1 for an illustrative workflow of our POM for Campylobacter). The Australian chicken meat industry has a self-set target of ensuring that all chicken carcasses have less than 6000 colony forming units (cfu) which is equivalent to 12 cfu/mL in the 500 mL volume used to wash the carcass. The performance of the POM assay was evaluated using 29 rinse samples that were examined by the relevant Australian Standard method¹¹ (see Fig. 2 for an illustration of the work required by this Standard) as well as the POM assay.¹⁰ A total of 26 samples were in agreement - 16 were high in the POM assay and contained more than 12 cfu/mL and 10 were low in the POM assay and had <12 cfu/mL in the culture method. While three samples gave different results in the two assays (i.e. an 11% disagreement), only two samples (i.e. 7% of samples) were a major disagreement where the POM assay result was low and the culture result was above 12 cfu/mL. It is worth noting that these two disagreements occurred on the edge of the 12 cfu/mL cut-off - being 23 and 37 cfu/mL. All samples above 45 cfu/mL in the culture method were positive in the POM assay. Overall, this work has shown the potential for a very low-cost POM assay that uses little in the way of technology to be used to semi-quantify the level of Campylobacter in chicken carcass rinses.

Who pays?

In evaluating the advantages/disadvantages of a POM assay there is a critical primary issue that first needs to be addressed – who pays? In a situation where a producer has a disease problem on farm, the solution of a vaccine that controls the disease results in an extra cost but returns an increased profit via less mortalities or an improved growth rate. In these circumstances, the producer sees a direct financial benefit from a new intervention or a new management tool. In



Fig. 2. Part of the work flow for conventional Australian standard methods for *Campylobacter*.

contrast, producers or processing companies that introduce an intervention to reduce the level of *Campylobacter* have the cost of that intervention but no direct financial return. Society would benefit from the intervention with a lower level of campylobacteriosis in the population but the producer/ processor bears the costs and gains no financial benefit. Hence, any interventions to increase food safety (such as POM assays to provide near to real time information on *Campylobacter* levels on carcasses) must be implemented with an understanding that society will benefit but that there will be no immediate financial benefit to the individual producer or processor. Clearly, an industry providing food to the population benefits from a public perception that they provide a high-quality product that is safe and healthy. The public expects safe and healthy food but often does not understand the associated financial burdens. Hence, adoption of POM assays for food safety pathogens has to occur in a situation where no immediate benefit flows from the cost of adopting the technology.

Advantages of POM assays

In evaluating the advantages of the type of POM assay we have developed, our vision is that these assays are not seeking to replace the Australian Standard method¹¹ but rather add to the quality and relevance of the formal testing provided by the standard methods. The POM assay we have developed is as sensitive as the gold standard of culture but gives results in a little over 2 h vs 2 days required by the standard culture method. Hence, quality assurance/quality control staff can implement routine rapid, low-cost regular monitoring of the effectiveness of the processing chain in achieving the industry set target of <6000 cfu of Campylobacter per carcass. Given that there are around 50 processing plants for chickens in Australia and that over 663 million birds were processed in 2020, the need for cost-effective, low technology, rapid assays suitable for both the large multi-state processors as well as the much smaller state and regionally based processors is clear in our view. A POM assay would allow refinements and alterations in production parameters to be rapidly monitored for their impact on Campylobacter levels. POM assays should not be seen as replacements for the nationally certified standards but rather supplementary, additional tests that support the same goal – the production of a high quality, safe food product.

Disadvantages of POM assays

POM assays suffer the same generic problem that all food safety interventions suffer as outlined above (i.e. they are an additional cost). However, it should be noted that the cost of our POM approach is far cheaper than the currently available commercial instruments and assays.

There is a general acceptance that POM assays are not as sensitive as laboratory-based methods – as clearly shown in comparisons of RATs and RT-qPCR for COVID-19.¹² Our work is, at this stage, still too early to provide firm evidence about the relative sensitivity of culture and our POM assay. However, it should be noted that the three samples in disagreement all involved viable counts of less than 40 colonies on the two counting plates. As the reliable counting range for plate counts is 25–250 colonies,^{13,14} it is clear that the disagreements occurred in a range where both technologies (plate counts and POM assay) were struggling to detect very low numbers of *Campylobacter*.

Conclusion

The importance of reducing the levels of *Campylobacter* on chicken carcasses for public health is well established.

A European study has shown that a 2-log reduction in the number of *Campylobacter* on carcasses would result in a 30 times reduction in the incidence of campylobacterosis.¹⁵ In our view, access to low cost, low technology, rapid POM assays is an essential requirement to ensure the level of monitoring required to achieve either the 2-log reduction suggested by the European study¹⁵ or the industry-assigned target of 6000 cfu per carcass.

While this article has focussed on *Campylobacter* and chicken carcasses, there are other areas where POM assays for food safety pathogens could be effective tools e.g. in detecting the presence of *Salmonella* on layer farms. Few layer farms currently engage in *Salmonella* tests due to the costs of the assay, the delay in obtaining results and the distance from the farm to the laboratory. POM assays for on-farm detection of *Salmonella* would remove many of those barriers and could encourage a far more proactive quality assurance program.

References

- 1. Kirk MD *et al.* (2015) World Health Organization estimates of the global and regional disease burden of 22 foodborne bacterial, protozoal, and viral diseases, 2010: a data synthesis. *PLoS Med* **12**, e1001921. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1001940
- The OzFoodNet Working Group (2021) Monitoring the incidence and causes of disease potentially transmitted by food in Australia: annual report of the OzFoodNet network, 2016. *Commun Dis Intell* 45, doi:10.33321/cdi.2021.45.52
- Moffatt CR *et al.* (2017) The campylobacteriosis conundrum examining the incidence of infection with *Campylobacter* sp. in Australia, 1998-2013. *Epidemiol Infect* 145, 839–847. doi:10.1017/ S0950268816002909
- Stafford RJ (2007) A multi-centre prospective case-control study of campylobacter infection in persons aged 5 years and older in Australia. *Epidemiol Infect* 135, 978–988. doi:10.1017/S0950268806007576
- Ford L et al. (2018) The epidemiology of Salmonella enterica outbreaks in Australia, 2001–2016. Front Sustain Food Syst 2, 86. doi:10.3389/fsufs.2018.00086
- Hoffmann S, Anekwe TD (2013) Making sense of recent cost-offoodborne-illness estimates – EIB-118. Economic Research Service US Department of Agriculture.
- ACIL ALLEN Consulting (2018) Economic contribution of animal medicines to Australia' livestock industries – 2015–16. Report to Animal Medicines Australia.
- Mason MG, Botella JR (2020) Rapid (30-second), equipment-free purification of nucleic acids using easy-to-make dipsticks. *Nat Protoc* 15, 3663–3677. doi:10.1038/s41596-020-0392-7
- 9. Zou Y *et al.* (2017) Nucleic acid purification from plants, animals and microbes in under 30 seconds. *PLoS Biol* **15**, e2003916. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.2003916
- Mason MG et al. (2020) An easy-to-perform, culture-free Campylobacter point-of-management assay for processing plant applications. J Appl Microbiol 128, 620–629. doi:10.1111/jam. 14509
- Standards Australia (2015) Food microbiology method 6: examination of specific organisms Campylobacter. AS 5013.6:2015.
- Yamayoshi S et al. (2020) Comparison of rapid antigen tests for COVID-19. Viruses 12, 1420. doi:10.3390/v12121420
- Breed RS, Dotterrer WD (1916) The number of colonies allowable on satisfactory agar plates. *J Bacteriol* 1, 321–331. doi:10.1128/jb. 1.3.321-331.1916
- Tomasiewicz DM *et al.* (1980) The most suitable number of colonies on plates for counting. *J Food Prot* 43, 282–286. doi:10.4315/0362-028X-43.4.282
- Rosenquist H *et al.* (2003) Quantitative risk assessment of human campylobacteriosis associated with thermophilic *Campylobacter* species in chickens. *Int J Food Microbiol* 83, 87–103. doi:10.1016/ S0168-1605(02)00317-3

Data availability. Data sharing is not applicable as no new data were generated or analysed during this study.

Conflicts of interest. The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

Declaration of funding. The research on the development of a POM assay for use in the poultry processing plant was supported by the AgriFutures Chicken Meat Program. We greatly appreciate the participation of our industry partner in that project who provided the carcass rinse samples and conventional culture results.

Author affiliations

^AIntensive Livestock & Food Safety, Department of Agriculture and Fisheries (Scopus Affiliation ID: 60028929), EcoSciences Precinct, GPO Box 267, Brisbane, Qld 4001, Australia.

^BPlant Genetic Engineering Laboratory, School of Agriculture and Food Sciences, The University of Queensland, St Lucia, Qld 4067, Australia. ^CQueensland Alliance for Agriculture and Food Innovation, The University of Queensland, EcoSciences Precinct, GPO Box 267, Brisbane, Qld 4001, Australia.

Biographies



Jillian Templeton is a microbiologist working for the Queensland Department of Agriculture and Fisheries. Jillian is a mid-career researcher who has led projects over the past 20 years to investigate the epidemiology of *Campylobacter* on Australian meat chicken farms; the development, validation and application of genotyping methods for *Campylobacter*; and the development of rapid diagnostic techniques for *Campylobacter*.



Jimmy Botella is professor of Biotechnology at the University of Queensland. Jimmy has eleven international patents in the field of Biotechnology, has founded two biotechnology companies and is a member of the Expert Scientific Panel for the Agricultural Biotechnology Council of Australia. Jimmy's research has been awarded with the Chinese Academy of Sciences Visiting Professorship

for Senior International Scientists and the title of 'Pathologist of Distinction' by the International Society of Plant Pathology.



Pat Blackall is a bacteriologist working at the Queensland Alliance for Agriculture and Food Innovation at the University of Queensland. Pat has research interests in the bacterial diseases of intensively raised animals and in the food safety pathogens that are present in those industries.





Microbiology

Impact of photodynamic inactivation on microbial safety in foods

Maral Seididamyeh^{A,B} and Yasmina Sultanbawa^{A,B,*}

For full list of author affiliations and declarations see end of paper

*Correspondence to: Yasmina Sultanbawa

Centre for Nutrition and Food Sciences, Queensland Alliance for Agriculture and Food Innovations, The University of Queensland, St Lucia, Qld 4072, Australia Email: y.sultanbawa@uq.edu.au

ABSTRACT

Food-borne diseases caused by contaminated food products continue to pose a threat to public health, as well as causing major economic losses and a negative impact on companies' reputation among consumers. In the food industry, inactivation of pathogenic and spoilage microorganisms is conventionally performed through thermal- and chemical-based techniques, which can affect the nutritional and sensorial quality of food. Furthermore, the emergence of microbial resistance to conventional decontamination techniques has drawn increased attention to finding an alternative and sustainable approach for similar or higher decontamination efficiency. Over the past decade, photodynamic treatment has been introduced for inactivating food spoilage and pathogenic microorganisms as a promising cost-effective, chemical-free, environmentally friendly technique with no reports on toxic residues and microbial resistance. The application and efficiency of photodynamic treatment in various food matrices against a broad range of microorganisms demonstrates the potential of using this technology in the food industry.

Keywords: antimicrobial treatment, curcumin, food preservation, food safety, green technology, photodynamic, photosensitiser, reactive oxygen species.

Introduction

The key element in achieving good health and sustaining life is access to nutritious and safe food. According to the World Health Organization, over 200 different diseases with severity ranging from diarrhoea to cancers can be caused by unsafe food consumption, which contains harmful microorganisms or chemical substances.¹ Food safety is generally influenced by the growing world population, climate change, and globalisation of food trade. Therefore, it contributes greatly to global food and nutrition security, as well as to national economies.

Food industry traditionally uses conventional thermal-based processing such as dryheating and steam-heating to reduce the microbial contamination of foods caused by vegetative cells, spores, and biofilms. However, this practice sometimes suffers from undesirable impacts on flavour, nutritional composition, and texture of treated foods.² Various non-thermal processing technologies such as ultraviolet light, irradiation, ultrasound, ozonation, cold plasma, pulsed electric field, and high hydrostatic pressure have been introduced to the food industry to reduce the microbial load while retaining the natural colour, flavour and nutrition. Nevertheless, the wide application of some of these non-thermal decontamination technologies is limited by strict processing conditions, expensive equipment, high energy consumption, and the emergence of microbial resistance.³

One of the recently introduced non-thermal decontamination technologies to the food industry is photodynamic treatment, which is also known as photosensitisation. For several decades, photodynamic treatment has been investigated and used for medical and dental purposes to treat tumour/cancerous cells and as antibacterial/antibiofilm treatment. Reactive oxygen species (ROS) are produced during the photodynamic treatment, which only requires the presence of oxygen, a photosensitiser, and light (at photosensitiser's λ_{max}). Photosensitisers become excited on illumination and generate cytotoxic ROS through subsequent de-excitation and collision with the surrounding oxygen molecules⁴ (Fig. 1). The produced ROS exhibit a multi-target attack towards different intracellular components of microorganisms present in the food, such as their proteins, lipids, and nucleic acids, resulting in cellular death. Therefore, because of direct and non-selective oxidative damage to essential biomolecules required for cell integrity and function, there is also a low

Received: 19 March 2022 Accepted: 25 April 2022 Published: 17 May 2022

Cite this:

Seididamyeh M and Sultanbawa Y (2022) Microbiology Australia **43**(2), **7**1–**7**4. doi:10.1071/MA22017

© 2022 The Author(s) (or their employer(s)). Published by CSIRO Publishing on behalf of the ASM. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License (CC BY-NC-ND)



Fig. 1. A schematic overview of the photodynamic process.⁶



Fig. 2. Examples of natural photosensitisers: (*a*) riboflavin, (*b*) chlorophyllin A, (*c*) hypericin, (*d*) curcumin, (*e*) aloeemodin.⁷

probability of the emergence of microbial resistance using photodynamic treatment.⁵ Another advantage of this treatment is being chemical free that is in line with the growing demand for 'clean label' food products.

Generally, photosensitisers can be endogenous such as porphyrins, which already exist within some fungal and bacterial cells, or exogenous such as curcumin, chlorophyll, and riboflavin isolated from plant material (Fig. 2). However, the poor water solubility of some potent photosensitisers such as curcumin can limit the wide application of the treatment on different food products. This can be overcome with the aid of encapsulation technology using hydrocolloids isolated from natural resources. This results in better bonding of the photosensitiser with microbial cells and better accumulation in the vicinity of target cells and therefore an enhanced photodynamic antimicrobial effect. Furthermore, another feature of this photodynamic treatment is its low energy requirement and no toxic by-products or residue generation,⁵ thus making it a safe and eco-compatible technology.

Photodynamic application for food decontamination

In 2004, Lukšien and colleagues explored the application of innovative and promising photodynamic inactivation for microbial food safety. The authors reported a complete in vitro photoinactivation of common food crop spoilage fungi, namely Rhizopus oryzae, Aspergillus flavus, Trichothecium roseum, and Fusarium avenaceum, using hematoporphyrin dimethyl ether as a photosensitiser.⁸ Further studies have since shown the efficiency of photodynamic treatment in inactivating a wide variety of food spoilage and pathogenic microorganisms (i.e. vegetative cells, spores, biofilms) such as Listeria monocytogenes, Salmonella enterica,⁹ Vibrio parahaemolyticus,¹⁰ Enterococcus faecalis,¹¹ Pseudomonas fluorescens, Shigella flexneri,¹² Staphylococcus aureus,¹³ Bacillus cereus,¹⁴ Candida albicans, Aspergillus niger, Penicillium griseofulvum, Fusarium oxysporum, Zygosaccharomyces bailii,¹⁵ Aspergillus flavus,¹⁶ and Botrytis cinerea.¹⁷

Several studies have shown that photodynamic treatment has the potential to be applied on a variety of food products including fruits and vegetables, seeds and grains, meat and aquatic products, and juices. This also has the advantage of minimal influence on nutritional and sensorial properties compared to conventional thermal processing technologies. A few examples of decontamination efficiency of photodynamic treatment of various food matrices include reducing the population of V. parahaemolyticus on cooked oysters,¹⁸ of L. monocytogenes on smoked salmon¹⁹ and on fresh-cut pears,²⁰ of *E. coli* on fresh-cut pineapple,²¹ of *Staph. sapro*phyticus on fresh dough sheet,²² of P. fluorescens on Minas Frescal cheese,²³ of *A. flavus* on maize kernel and flour²⁴ and on peanuts,²⁵ and of *Botrytis cinerea* on apples.²⁶ The use of photodynamic treatment in disinfecting the water in fish farming was also suggested by Wohllebe and colleagues. The authors successfully decontaminated the water containing larvae (of human pathogenic parasites) using low concentrations of chlorophyll acid²⁷ before introducing the fish. They further suggested chlorophyll-mediated photodynamic treatment as a practical and inexpensive treatment for controlling ectoparasites such as Ichthyophthirius mulftifiliis in fish.²⁸

Furthermore, encouraged by promising antimicrobial efficacy of this treatment, photodynamic-mediated food packaging films have been recently investigated. The photosensitiser is embedded in the film forming matrix to add the antimicrobial activity to the food packaging material. Examples of photodynamically active food packaging are riboflavin-incorporated chitosan-based film as a salmon packaging material, with the ability to reduce L. monocytogenes, V. parahaemolyticus and Shewanella baltica populations,² carbon nitride-incorporated konjac glucomannan-based film as a cherry tomato packaging material with the ability to inhibit E. coli and Staph. aureus growth,³⁰ curcumin-incorporated cellulose laurate-based film as a pork packaging material with the ability to reduce *Staph. aureus* population,³¹ β -cyclodextrin/ curcumin complex-incorporated 2,3-dialdehyde cellulosebased film as a salmon packaging material with the ability to inactivate L. monocytogenes, V. parahaemolyticus, and Shew. putrefaciens,³² and aloe emodin-incorporated poly(3hydroxybutyrate-co-3-hydroxyvalerate)-based film as a packaging material for fresh-cut papava, pork belly and pork bologna with the ability to inactivate *E. coli*.³³ It is also possible that the photosensitiser-incorporated food packaging material may improve the shelf life of the products by being exposed to artificial lighting in the retail stores. However, this needs further investigation.

Summary

In general, various studies have shown the efficiency of photodynamic treatment as a naturally based, cost effective, clean label and eco-friendly decontamination technique. The key benefit of this technology is that it is a nonthermal process and retains the nutritional and organoleptic qualities of food. It is easily scalable and can be implemented in the food industry as it can operate using an existing conveyor system. It does not require expensive equipment and the materials used such as curcumin and visible light are already approved and being used in the food industry. It is effective against a wide range of food related microorganisms including viruses, bacteria, yeasts, and moulds.

Besides the diverse applications of photodynamic treatment in post-harvest and processed foods from plant or animal sources it has applications in decontamination of fruit and vegetable washing water, making it attractive for adoption by industry. It can also be investigated as an antibacterial, antifungal, and possibly pesticide treatment for the photosensitiser to be applied directly on fresh produce and be photoactivated with the aid of artificial lighting for example in greenhouses, where the intensity of light and time of exposure can be controlled. However, the efficiency of the treatment is dependent on the processing conditions such as photosensitiser concentration, light dose, and wavelength, as well as the food matrix properties. Optimising and validating the treatment conditions, including photosensitiser formulation and illumination dosage, are the future challenges to effectively implementing the treatment in the food industry to replace the conventional decontamination techniques, while maintaining similar or higher decontamination efficiency.

References

- 1. World Health Organization (2020) Food safety fact sheet. who.int
- Huang M et al. (2019) Recent development in the application of alternative sterilization technologies to prepared dishes: a review. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr* 59, 1188–1196. doi:10.1080/10408398. 2017.1421140
- Pexara A, Govaris A (2020) Foodborne viruses and innovative nonthermal food-processing technologies. *Foods* 9, 1520. doi:10.3390/ foods9111520
- Penha CB *et al.* (2017) Photodynamic inactivation of foodborne and food spoilage bacteria by curcumin. *LWT* 76, 198–202. doi:10.1016/j.lwt.2016.07.037
- Costa L *et al.* (2011) Evaluation of resistance development and viability recovery by a non-enveloped virus after repeated cycles of a PDT. *Antivir Res* **91**, 278–282. doi:10.1016/j.antiviral.2011. 06.007
- Seidi Damyeh M et al. (2020) An insight into curcumin-based photosensitization as a promising and green food preservation technology. Compr Rev Food Sci 19, 1727–1759. doi:10.1111/ 1541-4337.12583
- PubChem Identifier, CID, 493570 (riboflavin), 123798 (chlorophyllin A), 3663 (hypericin), 969516 (curcumin), 10207 (aloeemodin). PubChem (nih.gov).
- Luksiene Z et al. (2004) Inactivation of fungi in vitro by photosensitization: preliminary results. Ann Agric Environ Med 11, 215–220.
- Kairyte K *et al.* (2012) Effective inactivation of food pathogens Listeria monocytogenes and Salmonella enterica by combined treatment of hypericin-based photosensitization and high power pulsed light. J Appl Microbiol 112, 1144–1151. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2672. 2012.05296.x
- Chen B et al. (2020) Eradication of planktonic Vibrio parahaemolyticus and its sessile biofilm by curcumin-mediated photodynamic inactivation. Food Control 113, 107181. doi:10.1016/j.foodcont. 2020.107181
- Chiniforush N *et al.* (2020) The effect of antimicrobial photodynamic therapy using chlorophyllin–phycocyanin mixture on *Enterococcus faecalis*: the influence of different light sources. *Appl Sci* 10, 4290. doi:10.3390/app10124290
- Liang Z et al. (2022) Photodynamic inactivation of Shigella flexneri by curcumin. LWT 153, 112491. doi:10.1016/j.lwt.2021.112491
- Shi Y-g et al. (2022) Ultra-efficient antimicrobial photodynamic inactivation system based on blue light and octyl gallate for ablation of planktonic bacteria and biofilms of *Pseudomonas fluorescens*. *Food Chem* **374**, 131585. doi:10.1016/j.foodchem.2021.131585
- Oliveira A *et al.* (2009) Porphyrin derivatives as photosensitizers for the inactivation of *Bacillus cereus* endospores. *J Appl Microbiol* 106, 1986–1995. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2672.2009.04168.x

- Al-Asmari F et al. (2017) A novel photosensitization treatment for the inactivation of fungal spores and cells mediated by curcumin. *J Photochem Photobiol B: Biol* 173, 301–306. doi:10.1016/j. jphotobiol.2017.06.009
- Temba BA et al. (2016) Inactivation of Aspergillus flavus spores by curcumin-mediated photosensitization. Food Control 59, 708–713. doi:10.1016/j.foodcont.2015.06.045
- 17. Huang L et al. (2021) The inactivation by curcumin-mediated photosensitization of *Botrytis cinerea* spores isolated from strawberry fruits. *Toxins* 13, 196. doi:10.3390/toxins13030196
- Chen B *et al.* (2021) Effects of the curcumin-mediated photodynamic inactivation on the quality of cooked oysters with *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* during storage at different temperature. *Int J Food Microbiol* **345**, 109152. doi:10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro. 2021.109152
- Josewin SW et al. (2018) Antibacterial effect of 460 nm lightemitting diode in combination with riboflavin against *Listeria* monocytogenes on smoked salmon. Food Control 84, 354–361. doi:10.1016/j.foodcont.2017.08.017
- Chai Z *et al.* (2021) Antibacterial mechanism and preservation effect of curcumin-based photodynamic extends the shelf life of fresh-cut pears. *LWT* 142, 110941. doi:10.1016/j.lwt.2021.110941
- Zou Y *et al.* (2021) Effects of curcumin-based photodynamic treatment on quality attributes of fresh-cut pineapple. *LWT* 141, 110902. doi:10.1016/j.lwt.2021.110902
- Wang Z *et al.* (2021) Antimicrobial photodynamic inactivation with curcumin against *Staphylococcus saprophyticus*, in vitro and on fresh dough sheet. *LWT* 147, 111567. doi:10.1016/j.lwt.2021.111567
 Saraiva BB *et al.* (2021) Photodynamic inactivation of *Pseudomonas*
- Saraiva BB et al. (2021) Photodynamic inactivation of *Pseudomonas* fluorescens in Minas Frescal cheese using curcumin as a photosensitizer. LWT 151, 112143. doi:10.1016/j.lwt.2021.112143
- 24. Nguenha RJ et al. (2022) Effect of solvents on curcumin as a photosensitizer and its ability to inactivate Aspergillus flavus and

reduce aflatoxin B1 in maize kernels and flour. J Food Process Preserv 46, e16169. doi:10.1111/jfpp.16169

- Mukubesa N *et al.* (2022) Curcumin-based photosensitization, a green treatment in inactivating *Aspergillus flavus* spores in peanuts. *Foods* 11, 354. doi:10.3390/foods11030354
- Wei C *et al.* (2021) Photosensitization effect of curcumin for controlling plant pathogen *Botrytis cinerea* in postharvest apple. *Food Control* 123, 107683. doi:10.1016/j.foodcont.2020.107683
- Wohllebe S et al. (2009) Photodynamic control of human pathogenic parasites in aquatic ecosystems using chlorophyllin and pheophorbid as photodynamic substances. *Parasitol Res* 104, 593–600. doi:10.1007/s00436-008-1235-6
- Wohllebe S et al. (2012) Chlorophyllin for the control of Ichthyophthirius multifiliis (Fouquet). Parasitol Res 111, 729–733. doi:10.1007/s00436-012-2893-y
- Su L et al. (2021) Chitosan-riboflavin composite film based on photodynamic inactivation technology for antibacterial food packaging. Int J Biol Macromol 172, 231–240. doi:10.1016/j. ijbiomac.2021.01.056
- Ni Y et al. (2021) Enhanced antimicrobial activity of konjac glucomannan nanocomposite films for food packaging. Carbohydr Polym 267, 118215. doi:10.1016/j.carbpol.2021.118215
- Ma T et al. (2021) Cellulose laurate films containing curcumin as photoinduced antibacterial agent for meat preservation. Int J Biol Macromol 193, 1986–1995. doi:10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2021.11.029
- 32. Chen L *et al.* (2021) Novel 2, 3-dialdehyde cellulose-based films with photodynamic inactivation potency by incorporating the β -cyclodextrin/curcumin inclusion complex. *Biomacromolecules* 22, 2790–2801. doi:10.1021/acs.biomac.1c00165
- 33. Le TD *et al.* (2021) Development of an antimicrobial photodynamic poly (3-hydroxybutyrate-co-3-hydroxyvalerate) packaging film for food preservation. *Food Packag Shelf Life* **30**, 100749. doi:10.1016/j.fpsl.2021.100749

Data availability. Data sharing is not applicable as no new data were generated or analysed during this study.

Conflicts of interest. The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

Declaration of funding. This research did not receive any specific funding.

Author affiliations

^ACentre for Nutrition and Food Sciences, Queensland Alliance for Agriculture and Food Innovations, The University of Queensland, St Lucia, Qld 4072, Australia.

^BARC Industrial Transformation Training Centre for Uniquely Australian Foods, Queensland Alliance for Agriculture and Food Innovation, The University of Queensland, Indooroopilly, Qld 4068, Australia.

Biographies



Maral Seididamyeh has studied curcumin-based photosensitisation for inactivating *Botrytis cinerea* spores, the cause of grey mould in strawberry fruits, during her PhD at the University of Queensland. She is working as a Research Officer in Professor Sultanbawa's lab on projects related to rapid non-destructive technologies to assess the provenance and authenticity of food products as well as to detect the chemical residues in food products.



Yasmina Sultanbawa is a Professorial Research Fellow at the Queensland Alliance for Agriculture and Food Innovation and the Director of the ARC Training Centre for Uniquely Australian Foods at the University of Queensland. Some of her research is focussed on food safety and functional ingredients as natural additives in food products or packaging material to enhance shelf life as well as the nutritional value of foods.

ASM Social Media

Facebook: https://www.facebook.com/AustralianSocietyForMicrobiology Twitter: @AUSSOCMIC LinkedIn group: https://www.linkedin.com/groups/Australian-Society-Microbiology-6605071 YouTube channel: http://www.youtube.com/user/AUSSOCMIC Instagram: https://www.instagram.com/theasmicro/



Microbiology

Rising stars in the bakery: novel yeasts for modern bread

Anna Wittwer^A and Kate Howell^{A,*}

For full list of author affiliations and declarations see end of paper

*Correspondence to: Kate Howell School of Agriculture and Food, University of Melbourne, Parkville, Vic. 3010, Australia Email: khowell@unimelb.edu.au

ABSTRACT

Bread is a widely consumed fermented food whose taste, aroma, and texture are partly determined by the choice of microbe(s) employed in dough fermentation. Consumer preferences and dietary considerations are currently changing; in addition to a desire for novel, complex flavour profiles, foods low in gluten and fermentable oligo-, di-, monosaccharides and polyols (FODMAPs) are becoming increasingly important. The potential of non-conventional yeasts to improve and diversify key aspects of breadmaking is highlighted in this mini-review. Researchers have investigated species from the genera *Kazachstania, Kluyveromyces, Lachancea, Pichia, Torulaspora*, and *Wickerhamomyces* to this end. Some species have demonstrated comparable leavening capacity to baker's yeast, as well as improved tolerance of baking-related stresses such as high salt and low pH conditions. Others have demonstrated valuable functional properties permitting the degradation of gluten and FODMAPs. Future research directions include the establishment of safe use status and the improvement of novel yeasts' baking traits through techniques such as evolutionary engineering.

Keywords: aroma, bread, fermentation, FODMAP, gluten, leaven, non-conventional yeast, sourdough.

The microbial fermentation of bread dough leads to the production of CO_2 and other metabolites that give bread its characteristic texture and aroma. Today, the chief microbe used by humans in this endeavour is Saccharomyces cerevisiae, also known as brewer's or baker's yeast. Its domestication to food environments occurred long ago,¹ and it has been the dominant breadmaking organism since the advent of purified S. cerevisiae monocultures in the 19th century.² Despite its predominance, S. cerevisiae has several major drawbacks as a fermenting yeast, namely its limited use of only a few carbon substrates and an inability to withstand certain stresses associated with baking, such as osmotic, oxidative, temperature, and ethanol stresses.³ The range of nitrogen sources the yeast is able to assimilate is also relatively limited, due to a whole-genome duplication (WGD) event affecting several genera within the Saccharomycetaceae.⁴ This may be due to WGD-driven gene partitioning; copies of nitrogen assimilation genes that each perform only a subset of an ancestral gene's function.⁵ It is also likely that most S. cerevisiae strains used for breadmaking arose from interbreeding of an ale and wine strain, and while this has advantages for the consistency and speed of the fermentation process, it limits the taste and aroma complexity of the final products.⁶ Therefore, there is a desire to seek out diverse breadmaking yeasts that can be used to make baked goods with improved technological and organoleptic properties, as well as those that can cater to the gluten-free and low-FODMAP (fermentable oligo-, di-, monosaccharides and polyols) demands of modern consumers.

There are many yeast species from the family Saccharomycetaceae (to which *S. cerevisiae* belongs) that are found in food environments. Non-*S. cerevisiae* yeasts are involved in the production of cocoa, kefir, fermented vegetables, wine, and beer.⁷ Bread was historically leavened using traditional sourdough starters: flour and water mixtures that are left at room temperature for several days to ferment 'spontaneously', i.e. without a starter culture.² This practice continues today, and sourdough microbial composition – specifically unique functional properties of constituent microbes – continues to be an active field of study. A large proportion of non-*S. cerevisiae* yeasts are commonly found in sourdough starters, and recent research suggests that the fungal diversity of sourdoughs may be greater than previously thought.⁸

Mature sourdough starters tend to contain only one or two yeast species. The most common non-S. cerevisiae yeasts found in sourdoughs are Kazachstania exigua, K. humilis, Candida glabrata, Torulaspora delbrueckii, Pichia kudriavzevii, and Wickerhamomyces

Received: 23 March 2022 Accepted: 14 April 2022 Published: 17 May 2022

Cite this:

Wittwer A and Howell K (2022) Microbiology Australia 43(2), 75–78. doi:10.1071/MA22023

© 2022 The Author(s) (or their employer(s)). Published by CSIRO Publishing on behalf of the ASM. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License (CC BY-NC-ND)

anomalus.^{9,10} Novel non-conventional yeasts continue to be isolated from sourdoughs, such as *K. saulgeensis* which was first described in 2016.¹¹ It is important to note that while *S. cerevisiae* is also found in many sourdoughs, it remains unclear whether this is due to contamination from purified baker's yeast often used in the same bakeries¹² and industrial contexts or due to its autochthonous presence there. Sourdough yeasts occupy an environment described as 'specific and stressful' due to cereal dough forming an environment with low pH, low oxygen tension, and carbohydrates (mainly maltose) needing to be shared with fermenting lactic acid bacteria.¹⁰ Sourdough starters are therefore a significant source of novel yeasts with interesting applications.

In addition to using sourdoughs themselves as reservoirs of novel breadmaking yeasts, the original sources of sourdough microbes (such as soils, plants, and insects) have yielded non-conventional yeasts of interest. Madden *et al.*¹³ found that from a pool of yeast strains isolated from sugarseeking insects, thirteen from the *Candida, Lachancea* and *Pichia* genera were able to produce bread loaves of comparable quality to those made with baker's yeast. Furthermore, it was found that some of the *Lachancea* strains isolated could grow in osmotically challenging conditions, meaning that isolates of this genus may be suitable for growth as purified monocultures on an industrial scale. Potentially, 'bioprospecting' in non-food environments could yield novel food fermentation organisms.

It is frequently observed that the taste, texture, and aroma profiles of sourdough bread are different to those of 'straight' dough breads produced with purified baker's yeast. While some of this difference must be attributed to the different process parameters involved in making sourdough bread and the presence of lactic acid bacteria in the sourdough ecosystem, attention has now turned to sourdough yeasts as a source of valuable aroma volatiles in bread. In fact, yeast metabolism has been reported to be the main source of aromatic diversity in fermented foods such as alcoholic beverages and bread.¹⁴ When used as the sole fermenting yeasts in bread dough, Wickerhamomyces supelliculosus and Kazachstania gamospora were found to produce unique aromatic compounds.¹⁵ These compounds may include volatile esters, associated with a fruity aroma, which have been reported in increased amounts when novel yeasts are used in bread fermentation.⁶ A co-culture of *S. cerevisiae* and T. delbrueckii was found to improve production of succinic acid and acetic acid (Fig. 1) in steamed bread compared to dough fermented with mono-cultures.¹⁶ Interestingly, when a strain of S. cerevisiae that had been isolated from an Australian sourdough was used to ferment bread dough, the resulting bread had a distinct, different chemical aroma profile compared to that made with commercial baker's yeast.¹⁷ This suggests that even for *S. cerevisiae*, the derivation of yeasts from a sourdough environment may be related to important aroma- and flavour-generating properties.

Gluten and FODMAP contents in bread are, for those with coeliac disease, irritable bowel syndrome,¹⁸ and other gastrointestinal disorders, significant obstacles to the consumption and enjoyment of bread. Recent research has shown that non-conventional yeasts may play a key supporting role in the predominantly LAB-mediated degradation of gluten in sourdough (Table 1). The presence of T. delbrueckii in co-culture with bacterium Pediococcus acidilactici was shown to enhance the latter's protein metabolism and accelerate its ability to degrade proteins.¹⁹ Additionally, although not considered bakery yeasts, fungal proteases derived from Aspergillus oryzae and A. niger have been used in conjunction with sourdough lactobacilli to initiate primary hydrolysis of wheat proteins. Ultimately, these enzymes could detoxify wheat flour.²⁰ Interestingly, growth on a synthetic glutenlimited medium showed that strains of W. anomalus could be classified as 'gluten-degrading' in their own right, and that the extent of gluten degradation varied slightly between individual strains.²¹ FODMAPs are a class of small, osmotically active carbohydrate molecules. These properties mean that they are not well absorbed in the small intestine and pass into the large intestine, where they undergo rapid bacterial



Fig. 1. Metabolic pathways of fermenting bread yeasts. These are well understood in *S. cerevisiae*, but may differ in non-conventional yeasts (e.g. *Kluyveromyces* spp.), in which they are poorly characterised. Green labels represent substrates, red labels represent secreted metabolites and pink bubbles represent extracellular enzymes. Dotted arrows indicate omitted metabolic steps. Based on De Vuyst *et al.* 2016. ¹⁰ TCA, tricarboxylic acid cycle. Created using BioRender.

	NI					1		
Lable I.	Non-conventional	veasts and	their	affributes :	and a	nolications	in b	ireadmaking
i abic ii		Jeases and	circii	accinoacco	und u	ppneacions		- cadmanng

Species	ies Notable functions					
	FODMAP degradation	Aroma volatile production	Stress tolerance	Gluten degradation		
Kazachstania bulderi		+ (as co-culture with Lactobacillus plantarum)			17	
Kazachstania gamospora		+	+		15	
Kluyveromyces marxianus	+	+			23	
Lachancea fermentati			+		13	
Saccharomyces bayanus (hybrid)		+			6	
Torulaspora delbrueckii		+		+ (as co-culture with Pediococcus acidilactici)	6, 16, 19	
Wickerhamomyces anomalus				+	21	
Wickerhamomyces subpelliculosus		+	+		15	

fermentation, which in turn causes abdominal swelling and luminal distention.²² Novel yeasts derived from sourdoughs have been shown to have the enzymatic capabilities to break these carbohydrates down, notably fructans. As an example, *Kluyveromyces marxianus* was found to be able to degrade >90% of the fructan component of whole wheat bran, due to its ability to produce inulinase.²³ Struyf *et al.* have also demonstrated the successful use of co-cultures of *K. marxianus* and *S. cerevisiae* to ensure sufficient CO₂ production, producing bread with adequate loaf volume and $\leq 0.2\%$ fructan content.²⁴ Non-conventional yeasts, both as mono-cultures and co-cultures, might therefore present an attractive opportunity to create high-quality bread that caters to the dietary needs of modern consumers.

An additional notable aspect of novel bakery yeasts is their capacity to form associations with bacteria. This is important in fermented food products such as kefir and kombucha that rely on a consortium of both yeasts and bacteria to produce their characteristic properties. These co-cultures have been shown to have interesting and valuable effects on final food products that their constituent monocultures are not capable of producing. When inoculated in bread dough as co-cultures alongside sourdoughderived lactic acid bacteria, novel sourdough-derived yeasts are capable of producing distinctive aroma profiles (with predominant sour aromas) and crumb structures preferred by sensory panels.¹⁷ It is likely that interactions between yeasts and lactic acid bacteria affect the manner in which the bacteria use carbohydrates to produce metabolites.²⁵ It has been suggested that the oft-documented association between Kazachstania humilis and the sourdough heterofermentative LAB Fructilactobacillus sanfranciscensis may be driven by cross-feeding, as maltose metabolised by F. sanfranciscensis into glucose may provide a source of nutrition for the maltose-negative yeast.²⁶ Although the molecular mechanisms underpinning this interaction are yet to be fully elucidated, the frequent detection of established yeastbacteria pairs in food environments suggests that there is a strong natural tendency for such partnerships to form.

Ongoing research is required to render novel nonconventional yeasts suitable for baking, especially in an industrial context. For instance, *Kluyveromyces marxianus* cannot ferment maltose,²³ so it requires added sucrose or an enzyme (i.e. amyloglucosidase) to release glucose from amylose to produce sufficient CO_2 to fulfil its leavening requirements. This emphasises the need to consider the metabolic demands of novel yeasts, and to consider whether they might function best as co-cultures, or in conjunction with certain substrates or enzymes. Co-cultures of yeasts or yeasts in combination with bacteria present an attractive area for future research into the applications of novel yeasts in breadmaking. Particularly for yeasts derived from non-food environments, safe usage status (generally-regarded-as-safe or qualified presumption of safety status) must also be established¹⁵ before they can be approved for use on an industrial scale.

References

- Albertin W et al. (2009) Evidence for autotetraploidy associated with reproductive isolation in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*: towards a new domesticated species. *J Evol Biol* 22, 2157–2170. doi:10.1111/ j.1420-9101.2009.01828.x
- 2. Catzeddu P (2011) Chapter 4. Sourdough Breads. In Flour and Breads and their Fortification in Health and Disease Prevention (Preedy VR *et al.*, eds). pp. 37–46. Academic Press.
- Semumu T et al. (2022) Evolutionary engineering to improve Wickerhamomyces subpelliculosus and Kazachstania gamospora for baking. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 38, 48. doi:10.1007/ s11274-021-03226-9
- Kellis M et al. (2004) Proof and evolutionary analysis of ancient genome duplication in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Nature 428, 617–624. doi:10.1038/nature02424
- Fares MA et al. (2013) The roles of whole-genome and small-scale duplications in the functional specialization of Saccharomyces cerevisiae genes. PLoS Genet 9, e1003176. doi:10.1371/journal. pgen.1003176
- Aslankoohi E *et al.* (2016) Non-conventional yeast strains increase the aroma complexity of bread. *PLoS One* 11, e0165126. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0165126
- 7. Bruner J, Fox G (2020) Novel non-*Cerevisiae Saccharomyces* yeast species used in beer and alcoholic beverage fermentations. *Fermentation* **6**, 116. doi:10.3390/fermentation6040116
- Urien C et al. (2019) Fungal species diversity in french bread sourdoughs made of organic wheat flour. Front Microbiol 10, 201. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2019.00201
- 9. Huys G et al. (2013) Taxonomy and biodiversity of sourdough yeasts and lactic acid bacteria. In 'Handbook on Sourdough Biotechnology'. (Gobbetti M, Gänzle M, eds). pp. 105–154. Springer US.
- De Vuyst L *et al.* (2016) Yeast diversity of sourdoughs and associated metabolic properties and functionalities. *Int J Food Microbiol* 239, 26–34. doi:10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2016.07.018
- 11. Jacques N et al. (2016) Three novel ascomycetous yeast species of the Kazachstania clade, Kazachstania saulgeensis sp. nov.,

Kazachstania serrabonitensis sp. nov. and Kazachstania australis sp. nov. Reassignment of Candida humilis to Kazachstania humilis f.a. comb. nov. and Candida pseudohumilis to Kazachstania pseudohumilis f.a. comb. nov. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol **66**, 5192–5200. doi:10.1099/ijsem.0.001495

- Minervini F et al. (2015) House microbiotas as sources of lactic acid bacteria and yeasts in traditional Italian sourdoughs. Food Microbiol 52, 66–76. doi:10.1016/j.fm.2015.06.009
- Madden AA et al. (2022) Sugar-seeking insects as a source of diverse bread-making yeasts with enhanced attributes. Yeast 39, 108–127. doi:10.1002/yea.3676
- Birch AN et al. (2013) Influence of commercial baker's yeasts on bread aroma profiles. Food Res Int 52, 160–166. doi:10.1016/ j.foodres.2013.03.011
- Zhou N et al. (2017) Kazachstania gamospora and Wickerhamomyces subpelliculosus: two alternative baker's yeasts in the modern bakery. Int J Food Microbiol 250, 45–58. doi:10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2017. 03.013
- 16. Li Z et al. (2019) Effect of mixed Saccharomyces cerevisiae Y10 and Torulaspora delbrueckii Y22 on dough fermentation for steamed bread making. Int J Food Microbiol 303, 58–64. doi:10.1016/ j.ijfoodmicro.2019.05.009
- Winters M *et al.* (2019) Defined co-cultures of yeast and bacteria modify the aroma, crumb and sensory properties of bread. *J Appl Microbiol* 127, 778–793. doi:10.1111/jam.14349
- Oka P *et al.* (2020) Global prevalence of irritable bowel syndrome according to Rome III or IV criteria: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol* 5, 908–917. doi:10.1016/ S2468-1253(20)30217-X
- 19. Fu W et al. (2021) Co-culture fermentation of Pediococcus acidilactici XZ31 and yeast for enhanced degradation of wheat

allergens. Int J Food Microbiol 347, 109190. doi:10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2021.109190

- Rizzello CG *et al.* (2007) Highly efficient gluten degradation by Lactobacilli and fungal proteases during food processing: new perspectives for celiac disease. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 73, 4499–4507. doi:10.1128/AEM.00260-07
- Sakandar HA et al. (2018) Isolation and characterization of gluten-degrading Enterococcus mundtii and Wickerhamomyces anomalus, potential probiotic strains from indigenously fermented sourdough (Khamir). LWT 91, 271–277. doi:10.1016/j.lwt.2018. 01.023
- 22. Gibson PR, Shepherd SJ (2010) Evidence-based dietary management of functional gastrointestinal symptoms: the FODMAP approach. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 25, 252–258. doi:10.1111/ j.1440-1746.2009.06149.x
- Struyf N et al. (2018) Kluyveromyces marxianus yeast enables the production of low FODMAP whole wheat breads. Food Microbiol 76, 135–145. doi:10.1016/j.fm.2018.04.014
- 24. Struyf N et al. (2017) Saccharomyces cerevisiae and Kluyveromyces marxianus cocultures allow reduction of fermentable oligo-, di-, and monosaccharides and polyols levels in whole wheat bread. J Agric Food Chem 65, 8704–8713. doi:10.1021/acs.jafc. 7b02793
- Paucean A et al. (2013) Carbohydrate metabolic conversions to lactic acid and volatile derivatives, as influenced by *Lactobacillus plantarum* ATCC 8014 and *Lactobacillus casei* ATCC 393 efficiency during in vitro and sourdough fermentation. *Eur Food Res Technol* 237, 679–689. doi:10.1007/s00217-013-2042-6
- Carbonetto B et al. (2020) Interactions between Kazachstania humilis yeast species and lactic acid bacteria in sourdough. Microorganisms 8, 240. doi:10.3390/microorganisms8020240

Data availability. Data sharing is not applicable as no new data were generated or analysed during this study.

Conflicts of interest. The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

Declaration of funding. This work has been supported by an Australian Government Research Training Program Scholarship provided by the Australian Commonwealth Government and The University of Melbourne to AW.

Author affiliation

^ASchool of Agriculture and Food, University of Melbourne, Parkville, Vic. 3010, Australia.

Biographies



Anna Wittwer is a PhD Candidate at the Faculty of Veterinary and Agricultural Sciences at the University of Melbourne. Her research interests are in non-conventional yeast diversity and sourdough microbial ecology.



Kate Howell is a microbiologist and biochemist. Her key interest is how microbial interactions and ecology in agricultural and food systems can impact the flavour, aroma, function, and health properties of food.

Invitation for non-thematic articles for Microbiology Australia

Articles for *Microbiology Australia* are usually invited by Guest Editors of themes. However, as a new initiative and as a new service to ASM members non-thematic articles are now invited.

Articles of general interest should conform to the In Focus style and will be rigorously peer-reviewed.

Please contact the Editor for further information. There is a small Article Processing Charge.



Microbiology

Exploring lactic acid bacteria diversity for better fermentation of plant-based dairy alternatives

Wenkang Huang^{A,#}, Anders Peter Wätjen^{B,#}, Sangeeta Prakash^A, Claus Heiner Bang-Berthelsen^{B,*} and Mark S. Turner^{A,*}

For full list of author affiliations and declarations see end of paper

*Correspondence to: Claus Heiner Bang-Berthelsen National Food Institute, Technical University of Denmark, Kongens Lyngby, Denmark Email: claban@food.dtu.dk

Mark S. Turner School of Agriculture and Food Sciences, University of Queensland, Brisbane, Qld, Australia Email: m.turner2@uq.edu.au

[#]These authors contributed equally to this work.

Received: 19 March 2022 Accepted: 20 April 2022 Published: 17 May 2022

Cite this:

Huang W et al. (2022) Microbiology Australia **43**(2), 79–82. doi:10.1071/MA22026

© 2022 The Author(s) (or their employer(s)). Published by CSIRO Publishing on behalf of the ASM. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License (CC BY-NC-ND)

OPEN ACCESS

ABSTRACT

Plant-based foods have risen in popularity in recent years including a number of dairy alternative products. Fermentation has the potential to support the development of innovative plant-based foods with enhanced flavour, texture and nutritional quality. Lactic acid bacteria (LAB) have been used for thousands of years to carry out fermentation of a wide variety of food substrates through production of organic acids and flavour compounds. However, LAB strains used in dairy fermentations are commonly found to be suboptimal in their metabolism of plant substrates, so efforts to identify alternative strains are needed. We provide an overview of the plant-based milk alternative category and explore screening approaches (including citizen-science efforts) to identify new LAB that hold potential in acidification and flavour formation of plant-based substrates.

Keywords: almond, alternative protein, citizen science, dairy-alternatives, fermentation, flavour, lactic acid bacteria, new foods, plant based.

The rise of plant-based foods and the non-dairy category

Consumer interest, preference, and market share for plant-based foods has grown significantly in recent years. This has been due to greater health conscientiousness in consumers, concerns around animal welfare and environmental impacts of greenhouse gas emissions, health-related issues such as dairy allergies and lactose intolerance, as well as the increased promotion of plant-rich diets and interest in veganism.

Plant-based food products include natural (fruits and vegetables) or processed (plant-based meat and milk alternatives). As milk is one of the most widespread and nutritious food sources, its plant-based alternatives have also seen high demand over the past decade.¹ This article will focus on plant-based milk alternatives (PBMA) and explore the potential of fermentation to enhance their flavour, texture, and nutrition.

In 2021, the worldwide PBMA revenue was US\$19 billion.² The most common sources of PBMA include soy, almond, coconut, rice, and oat, with others including macadamia, walnut, pea, banana, and flax being less common. In Australia, the most popular PBMA currently is soy-based; however, demand for almond PBMA is growing rapidly.^{3,4} The PBMA market share captured by almond-based PMBA increased from 18% to 44% between 2015 and 2020, while soy-based PBMA reduced from 69% to 48% in the same period. Australia is the world's second largest producer of almonds with ~\$1 billion grown each year, and almonds are our most valuable horticultural export,⁵ making this an attractive target for fermented PBMA product development.

In addition to being naturally lactose-free, PBMA contain bioactive compounds that are absent or have low bioavailability in cow milk, such as dietary fibres, antioxidants and phytoestrogens.^{6,7} Furthermore, legume- and seed-based PBMA are promising plant-based alternative protein sources.⁸ However, PBMA can have several disadvantages including undesirable flavour profiles (e.g. beany flavour in soymilk), a less comprehensive nutritional profile compared with cow milk, anti-nutritional compounds and potential allergenic activity. Fermentation is one potential option that can be investigated to improve PMBA nutritional properties and sensory attributes, and reduce allergenicity.⁹

Lactic acid bacteria (LAB) and their potential in PBMA fermentations

The most common group of bacteria used in food fermentations are LAB. For industrialised (controlled) fermentations, defined LAB strains are used as inoculants. LAB can be grouped into 'starter cultures', whose primary role is to produce lactic acid or 'adjunct cultures' that are used for flavour formation. Many fermented dairy foods including cheese, yoghurt, sour cream, cultured buttermilk, kefir and kumis all utilise LAB (such as Lactococcus, Lactobacillus and Streptococcus). Large culture supply companies provide a wide range of well characterised strains in live freeze-dried powders for dairy applications. However, these strains are adapted to dairy substrates and can be less suited for dairyfree plant bases due to differences in sugar, protein and sensitivity to growth inhibitors.^{10,11} In preliminary work, we compared the ability of a cheese starter culture strain (strain A) to acidify cow milk and almond milk (a model PBMA). It acidified cow milk but was incapable of lowering the pH of almond PBMA (Fig. 1). Therefore, there is significant interest in identifying new strains better suited for acidification and flavour formation in plant-based substrates. LAB are commonly found on plants and wild strains exhibit greater metabolic capability than industrialised (domesticated) strains.¹² Therefore, searching for strains from plant niches suitable for plant-based fermentations appears logical.

In some preliminary work using the almond PBMA model, we have screened a collection of ~600 LAB, sourced from a wide variety of vegetables, fruits, and herbs for their ability to acidify almond PBMA. Previous work has shown that this LAB collection can be a novel source of diverse strains that have beneficial anti-bacterial activity, antifungal activity or food flavour production.^{13–16} While >90% of the plant-derived strains of LAB acidified almond PBMA poorly, several strains possessed medium-to-strong almond PBMA acidification. As an example, strain B was identified as a strong acidifier, strain C a medium acidifier and strain D a non-acidifier (Fig. 2). Further work identifying the strains and also understanding why different LAB acidify almond PBMA differently using whole genome sequencing, metabolic and genetic methods is underway.

Citizen science as a tool for microbial discovery

Obtaining and screening LAB strain collections, as we have done previously as described above,¹⁶ prior to determining their potential in plant-based food fermentations is however both costly and laborious. There is a need to first collect samples, grow, isolate, and identify microbes before even beginning to filter through the strains for applicable candidates. One way to raise efficiency and lower the costs is to make use of Citizen Science (CS), where the public is involved in some or all of the processes. CS is a strong tool for massive sample and data collecting on a low budget and in a short time span, exemplified by the Danish 2018 project Mass Experiment¹⁷ (http://www. bacteriadanica.dk/) where school children collected over 30 000 environmental samples. The project ended up identifying ten new species of LAB. In another study¹⁸ researchers were able to collect more than 500 unique sourdough starter culture samples from four different continents within 3 months, showing the potential of wide geographical coverage when using the public for sampling. CS has even been used to strengthen the possible origin of ancient voghurt production, which includes the initiation of fermentation in milk, by adding twigs and leaves of specific plants.¹⁹ Here, researchers collected hundreds of plant samples, from which the traditional yoghurt species Lactobacillus delbrueckii ssp. bulgaricus and Streptococcus thermophilus were isolated. CS in natural sciences is already well established, even though it might be called different names. A well-known phenomenon is the BioBlitz, where both experts and hobbyists contribute to the identification of species in a defined area within a short period. This type of CS is often used for identification of plants, insects, or larger animals, but could in principle just as well be used for microbial identification. Today's social media platforms, global connectivity, and technological advances in terms of e.g. genomic screening, microbial identification and characterisation can enable much faster discoveries, than if CS was used just 20 years ago. This further strengthens the arguments for implementing CS in more researchbased work.



Fig. 1. Acidification bystrain A incubated in cow milk and almond PBMA held in non-shaking tubes at 30°C. Data are representative of at least two independent trials.



Fig. 2. Acidification bythree plant-derived LAB strains incubated in almond PBMA held in non-shaking tubes at 30° C. Data are representative of at least two independent trials.

Importance of microbial fermentation for flavour formation in plant-based alternatives

To optimise a plant-based fermentation for animal-based alternatives, flavour is key to success. As an example, various compounds produced during lactic acid fermentation are integral factors in obtaining a flavour profile like that of dairy yoghurt. This includes lactate and acetate (acidic), acetoin, diacetyl (buttery), and acetaldehyde (green apple), and even ethanol to name a few.^{9,20} The production of these compounds relies on specific precursors in the plant base, as well as LAB capable of fermenting these precursors. Lactic acid fermentation can also decrease the amount of 'beany' off-flavours found in soy products, while also providing dairy related flavour compounds.²¹ Madsen *et al.*¹¹ proved the importance of specific bacterial strain selection, and showed that dairy-adapted voghurt starter cultures were unable to compete with plant-adapted ones in a mixed soy and malt base. The number of studies characterising flavour development of fermented PBMAs are much fewer than that for meat alternatives.²² Kaczmarska et al.²³ investigated the chemical composition and sensory profile of various meat analogues, as well as fermented plant products such as tempeh and tofu, which are often regarded as meat-like substitutes. The results showed that only a few alternatives had a sensory profile vaguely resembling a meaty taste, and vastly different flavor profiles. Still, the study argued the possibility of using natto and tempeh as an ingredient in a meat substitute.

Future opportunities/challenges

With the recent public surge in interest of plant-based alternatives, the outlook of better quality products is promising. Still, there are several hurdles that need to be overcome, in order to create 'true alternatives'. Nutritional values are hard to reach without additives such as B12 and calcium,⁹ texture of cheese alternatives is difficult due to the lack of casein proteins in plants. Likewise, it is complicated to correctly balance the flavor profiles of meat analogues due to the complicated landscape of various contributing compounds.²⁴ Several start-up companies and non-profit organisations, such as Perfect Day and Real Vegan Cheese, are already trying to tackle many of these obstacles through genetically modified yeast or bacteria producing the main milk protein casein, enabling a way of producing vegan alternatives. But this is still very much on a theoretical stage, and a complicated procedure. The use of plantderived, non-modified microbes could still prove useful in this regard. Projects such as the Mass Experiment and large sourdough starter culture study¹⁸ has proven that CS is a strong tool, and that nature still holds more potential in terms of new tools for food fermentation. Hopefully future plant-based fermentation research will pave the way for new applications.

References

- 1. Motarjemi Y *et al.* (2014) Chapter 5 Milk and Dairy Products. In 'Food Safety Management'. (Motarjemi Y, Lelieveld H, eds). pp. 83–117. Academic Press.
- Statista Research Department (2021) Revenue of the worldwide milk substitute market from 2013 to 2026. https://www.statista. com/forecasts/693055/dairy-alternatives-global-sales-value
- Mäkinen OE et al. (2016) Foods for special dietary needs: non-dairy plant-based milk substitutes and fermented dairy-type products. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr 56, 339–349. doi:10.1080/10408398.2012.761950
- Hinton T (2022) Market share of alternative milks in Australia FY 2015 to 2020, by product type. https://www.statista.com/ statistics/1239473/australia-alternative-milk-market-share/
- 5. Godwin S (2021) Inside Australia's almond industry. https:// thefarmermagazine.com.au/almond-industry/
- Kuhnle GGC *et al.* (2008) Phytoestrogen content of foods of animal origin: dairy products, eggs, meat, fish, and seafood. *J Agric Food Chem* 56, 10099–10104. doi:10.1021/jf801344x
- Sethi S et al. (2016) Plant-based milk alternatives an emerging segment of functional beverages: a review. J Food Sci Tech 53, 3408–3423. doi:10.1007/s13197-016-2328-3
- Collard KM, McCormick DP (2021) A nutritional comparison of cow's milk and alternative milk products. *Acad Pediatr* 21, 1067–1069. doi:10.1016/j.acap.2020.12.007
- Tangyu M et al. (2019) Fermentation of plant-based milk alternatives for improved flavour and nutritional value. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* 103, 9263–9275. doi:10.1007/s00253-019-10175-9
- Montemurro M *et al.* (2021) Plant-based alternatives to yogurt: State-of-the-art and perspectives of new biotechnological challenges. *Foods* 10, 316. doi:10.3390/foods10020316
 Madsen SK *et al.* (2021) Development of a yoghurt alternative,
- Madsen SK *et al.* (2021) Development of a yoghurt alternative, based on plant-adapted lactic acid bacteria, soy drink and the liquid fraction of brewers' spent grain. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* 368, fnab093. doi:10.1093/femsle/fnab093
- Bachmann H et al. (2012) Microbial domestication signatures of Lactococcus lactis can be reproduced by experimental evolution. Genome Res 22, 115–124. doi:10.1101/gr.121285.111
- Dong A et al. (2021) Control of Listeria monocytogenes on ready-toeat ham and fresh cut iceberg lettuce using a nisin containing Lactococcus lactis fermentate. Food Control 119, 107420. doi:10.1016/j.foodcont.2020.107420
- Ho VTT et al. (2018) Characterisation of Lactococcus lactis isolates from herbs, fruits and vegetables for use as biopreservatives against Listeria monocytogenes in cheese. Food Control 85, 472–483. doi:10.1016/j.foodcont.2017.09.036
- Ho VTT et al. (2021) Isolation and evaluation of anti-Listeria Lactococcus lactis from vegetal sources. In 'Listeria Monocytogenes: Methods and Protocols'. pp. 243–257. Humana, New York.
- Cheong EY *et al.* (2014) Isolation of lactic acid bacteria with antifungal activity against the common cheese spoilage mould *Penicillium commune* and their potential as biopreservatives in cheese. *Food Control* 46, 91–97. doi:10.1016/j.foodcont.2014.05.011
- Sonne C, Alstrup AKO (2019) Thousands of Danish children find ten new bacteria species. *Nature* 567, 31. doi:10.1038/d41586-019-00765-y
- Landis EA et al. (2021) The diversity and function of sourdough starter microbiomes. Elife 10, e61644. doi:10.7554/eLife.61644
- Michaylova M et al. (2007) Isolation and characterization of Lactobacillus delbrueckii ssp. bulgaricus and Streptococcus thermophilus from plants in Bulgaria. FEMS Microbiol Lett 269, 160–169. doi:10.1111/j.1574-6968.2007.00631.x
- Dan T et al. (2019) Volatile flavor compounds profile and fermentation characteristics of milk fermented by *Lactobacillus delbrueckii* subsp. *bulgaricus. Front Microbiol* 10, 2183. doi:10.3389/fmicb. 2019.02183
- Tian HX *et al.* (2019) Screening of aroma-producing lactic acid bacteria and their application in improving the aromatic profile of yogurt. *J Food Biochem* 43, e12837. doi:10.1111/jfbc.12837
- Zioga E et al. (2022) Bringing plant-based Cli-meat closer to original meat experience: insights in flavor. Future Foods 5, 100138. doi:10.1016/j.fufo.2022.100138
- Kaczmarska K et al. (2021) Flavor and metabolite profiles of meat, meat substitutes, and traditional plant-based high-protein food products available in Australia. Foods 10, 801. doi:10.3390/ foods10040801
- 24. Mottram DS (1998) Flavour formation in meat and meat products: a review. Food Chem 62, 415–424. doi:10.1016/S0308-8146(98) 00076-4

Data availability. The data that support this study will be shared upon reasonable request to the corresponding author.

Conflicts of interest. The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

Declaration of funding. Claus Heiner Bang-Berthelsen has been funded by the Danish national grant GUDP (MycoProtein) [grant number 34009-20-1682]. Anders Peter Wätjen has been funded by the EIT Climate-KIC grant: From brewery waste to new taste (BSG 2.0) [project ID 200820]. Both Wenkang Huang and Anders Peter Wätjen were awarded scholarships from a joint PhD alliance initiative between UQ and DTU.

Author affiliations

^ASchool of Agriculture and Food Sciences, University of Queensland, Brisbane, Qld, Australia. ^BNational Food Institute, Technical University of Denmark, Kongens Lyngby, Denmark.

Biographies



Wenkang Huang is a PhD student in the School of Agriculture and Food Sciences at the University of Queensland. His research focus is on plantbased milk alternatives fermentation using lactic acid bacteria. He is currently working in the collaborative project between the University of Queensland and Technical University of Denmark.



Anders Peter Wätjen is a PhD student, with an alliance scholarship between Technical University of Denmark (DTU) and University of Queensland. He is investigating flavour production in plantbased dairy alternatives through lactic acid fermentation.



Claus Heiner Bang-Berthelsen is a senior scientist at DTU National Food Institute. He is the lead investigator in a research team exploring plant-based dairy alternatives and novel food fermentation and valorisations of side-streams by fermentation. He teaches food microbiology and biochemistry courses at DTU.



Mark Turner is a Professor in food microbiology and Deputy Head of the School of Agriculture and Food Sciences at the University of Queensland. He currently leads a research team exploring food fermentation, quality and safety and teaches food microbiology courses.



Dr Prakash is an academic at the University of Queensland with extensive experience in processing, physical characterisation and sensory profiling of food ingredients and products, including proteins (dairy and plant), hydrocolloids, dairy products (milk, yoghurt, custard, cream cheese, and dairy beverages), rice and meat. Her research interest also extends to 3D food printing and the digestibility of food ingredients in the human gastrointestinal tract.



ASM Membership

Some benefits of ASM membership:

- Access to hard copies of ASM'S official journal, *Microbiology Australia*, published 4 times per year
- Reduced registration fees for ASM annual scientific meeting and other affiliated conferences
- Professional development and networking opportunities
- Eligibility to apply for many ASM awards for researchers, teachers, students, early career scientists and clinical laboratory scientists

Contact:

Michelle Harris-Spencer ASM National Office, 9/397 Smith Street, Fitzroy, Vic. 3065 Tel: 1300 656 423 Email: admin@theasm.com.au





Congratulations to Professor Peter Timms on being honoured as a Queensland Great

The ASM congratulates Professor Peter Timms on being listed as one of eight Queensland Greats for the 2022 award round. Peter, who is based at the University of the Sunshine Coast, is a world expert in chlamydia infections in both humans and animals. He is leading a vaccine development program to safeguard koalas from extinction.

This year alone, as many as 1000 wild koalas in south-east Queensland will be given a single-shot vaccine developed by Peter and his team as part of the largest-ever trial to combat the sexually transmitted disease chlamydia, which can lead to painful urinary tract infections, loss of bladder control, infertility, blindness and death. The vaccine provides three levels of protection to koalas: reduced infection levels circulating in the population, reduced progression to clinical disease, and even reversal of existing cases of the disease.

The Queensland Greats Award recognises extraordinary Queenslanders who have made a long-term contribution to, or whose achievements have significantly impacted, the history and development of Queensland. Peter's achievements have been recognised with a commemorative plaque displayed proudly at Roma Street Parkland, Brisbane.

Peter has also been a long-time member of ASM, serving on ASM's National Council and then on the National Examinations and Qualifications Board for 10 years, initially as a member and then as Chair.



Professor Peter Revill receives Queen's Birthday Honour

Microbiologist and virologist Professor Peter Revill has received an AM (Member in the General Division of the Order of Australia) in the Queen's Birthday Honours for 2022. Professor Revill. Molecular Research and Development Group Head at the Victorian Infectious Diseases Reference Laboratory (VIDRL), Royal Melbourne Hospital, at the Doherty Institute, was honoured for his significant service to microbiology and immunology research.

Doherty Institute Director Professor Sharon Lewin congratulated Professor Revill, noting his important contribution to hepatitis research. 'Professor Revill's research into the molecular virology of hepatitis B virus has advanced our understanding of this virus and his global leadership and advocacy has highlighted the importance of finding a cure for hepatitis B', Professor Lewin said.

Professor Revill's work has focused on the molecular virology of hepatitis B virus (HBV) and played a key role in establishing the International Coalition to Eliminate Hepatitis B (ICE-HBV), in partnership with Professor

Stephen Locarnini at VIDRL and Professor Fabien Zoulim at France's National Agency for AIDS Research (ANRS).

A Principal Research Fellow at the Department of Microbiology at the University of Melbourne, Professor

Revill is also an executive member of the Australian Centre for HIV and Hepatitis Virology, a member of the Australian Centre for Hepatitis Virology, the Australian Virology Society and the Victorian Infection and Immunity Network. Peter, along with Adam Taylor, is theme leader of virology for The Australian Society for Microbiology.

This announcement is an edited version of the Doherty Institute's media release.



(2022) Microbiology Australia 43(2), 83.

doi:10.1071/MA22027

^{© 2022} The Author(s) (or their employer(s)). Published by CSIRO Publishing on behalf of the ASM. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License (CC BY-NC-ND)

Journals from CSIRO Publishing

CSIRO Publishing operates as an independent science and technology publisher with a global reputation for quality products and services. Our internationally recognised publishing programme covers a wide range of scientific disciplines, including agriculture, the plant and animal sciences, health and environmental management.

Our product range includes journals, books and magazines. We publish content in print and online, and our editorial practices and production methods are at the forefront of e-publishing standards.

Sign up for journal emails: publish.csiro.au/earlyalert



Animal Production Science Food, fibre and pharmaceuticals from animals

Australian Health Review The journal of the Australian Healthcare & Hospitals Association

Australian Journal of Botany Southern hemisphere botanical ecosystems

Australian Journal of Chemistry An international journal for chemical science

Australian Journal of Primary Health The issues influencing community health services and primary health care

Australian Journal of Zoology Evolutionary, molecular and comparative zoology

Australian Mammalogy The journal of the Australian Mammal Society

Australian Systematic Botany Taxonomy, biogeography and evolution of plants

Crop & Pasture Science Plant sciences, sustainable farming systems and food quality

Environmental Chemistry Chemical approaches to environmental problems

Functional Plant Biology Plant function and evolutionary biology

Historical Records of Australian Science The history of science, pure and applied, in Australia and the southwest Pacific

International Journal of Wildland Fire The journal of the International Association of Wildland Fire

Invertebrate Systematics Systematics, phylogeny and biogeography

Journal of Primary Health Care

The journal of The Royal New Zealand College of General Practitioners

Journal of Southern Hemisphere Earth Systems Science

A journal for meteorology, climate, oceanography, hydrology and space weather focused on the southern hemisphere

Marine & Freshwater Research

Advances in the aquatic sciences

Microbiology Australia The journal of the Australian Society for Microbiology

Pacific Conservation Biology Conservation and wildlife management in the Pacific region

Proceedings of the Royal Society of Victoria Promotion and advancement of science

Reproduction, Fertility and Development Vertebrate reproductive science and technology

Sexual Health Publishing on sexual health from the widest perspective

Soil Research Soil, land care and environmental research

The APPEA Journal The journal of the Australian Petroleum Production & Exploration Association

The Rangeland Journal The journal of the Australian Rangeland Society

The South Pacific Journal of Natural and Applied Sciences

Research and review papers in the area of science, engineering and mathematics

Wildlife Research Ecology, management and conservation in natural and modified habitats







ASM Ambassadors: connecting members with conferences and each other



Join the team!

